CDC Activities Related to Recommendations of the 2012 IOM Report, *Epilepsy Across the Spectrum*, 2012–2022

Final Progress Report





Centers for Disease Control and Prevention National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion Division of Population Health

CONTENTS

Overview	1
Epilepsy Facts and Figures: US Population	4
Public Health Approaches Applied to Epilepsy	6
CDC Progress on IOM Recommendations	8
Data and Assessment for Insight and Action	11
IOM Recommendation 1: Validate Standard Definitions for Case Ascertainment	11
IOM Recommendation 2: Expand Surveillance	15
IOM Recommendation 4: Early Identification	18
Policies and Partnerships to Mobilize and Strengthen	20
IOM Recommendation 7: Health Professional Education	20
IOM Recommendation 8: Delivery and Coordination of Services	23
IOM Recommendation 9: Educational Opportunities for Patients and Familes	25
IOM Recommendation 11: Public Awareness Efforts	29
IOM Recommendation 13: Engage People With Epilepsy	33
Evaluation and Strategy Toward Effectiveness and Improvement	34
IOM Recommendation 3: Prevention Efforts	34
IOM Recommendation 5: National Quality Measurement	36
IOM Recommendation 10: Information for Media	38
IOM Recommendation 12: Vision 20-20 and ELC Partnerships	41
Appendix A: References	44
Appendix B: CDC Activities Inventory	48
IOM Recommendation 1: Validate Standard Definitions for Case Ascertainment	48
IOM Recommendation 2: Expand Surveillance	49
IOM Recommendation 3: Prevention Efforts	50
IOM Recommendation 4: Early Identification	51
IOM Recommendation 5: National Quality Measurement	51
IOM Recommendation 6: Accreditation of Epilepsy Centers	51
IOM Recommendation 7: Health Professional Education	51
IOM Recommendation 8: Delivery and Coordination of Services	52
IOM Recommendation 9: Educational Opportunities for Patients and Families	53
IOM Recommendation 10: Information for Media	53



IOM Recommendation 11: Public Awareness Efforts	54
IOM Recommendation 12: Vision 20-20 and ELC Partnerships	54
IOM Recommendation 13: Engage People With Epilepsy	54
Appendix C: Select Publications, Presentations, and Reports, by Recommendation	55
IOM Recommendation 1: Validate Standard Definitions for Case Ascertainment	55
IOM Recommendation 2: Expand Surveillance	56
IOM Recommendation 3: Prevention Efforts	59
IOM Recommendation 4: Early Identification	62
IOM Recommendation 5: National Quality Measurement	63
IOM Recommendation 6: Accreditation of Epilepsy Centers	63
IOM Recommendation 7: Health Professional Education	64
IOM Recommendation 8: Delivery and Coordination of Services	64
IOM Recommendation 9: Educational Opportunities for Patients and Families	64
IOM Recommendation 10: Information for Media	65
IOM Recommendation 11: Public Awareness Efforts	65
IOM Recommendation 12: Vision 20-20 and ELC Partnerships	65
IOM Recommendation 13: Engage People With Epilepsy	66

Suggested Citation

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. CDC Activities Related to Recommendations of the 2012 IOM Report, Epilepsy Across the Spectrum, 2012–2022: Final Progress Report. US Dept of Health and Human Services; 2022.



Figure 1. Public health core functions7
Figure 2. The 12 IOM recommendations CDC has responded to, aligned under each of the three core public health functions
Figure 3. CDC Science Impact Framework 10
Figure 4. Age-adjusted percentage of adults with select chronic conditions reporting good or better physical and mental health, PROMIS Global Health data
Figure 5. Percentage of epilepsy types among people with epilepsy, MarketScan data, United States, 2010–2015
Figure 6. Total burden of epilepsy, seizure, and epilepsy or seizure costs, per patient and nationally
Figure 7. General scope and location of MEW Network program implementation
Figure 8. Select accomplishments from 2011–2016 and 2016–2021 Epilepsy Foundation cooperative agreements
Figure 9. Public awareness campaigns for select populations
Figure 10. Campaigns and media products to raise awareness of epilepsy
Figure 11. Neurocysticercosis infection in the brain
Figure 12. CDC tracking of progress against the Healthy People 2020 target for people with epilepsy
Figure 13. American Journal of Public Health Editor's Choice article published on The Carter Center website
Figure 14. The wide reach across multiple media outlets from August 10 to September 10, 2017, of the CDC press release "Epilepsy prevalence, 2010–2015"





OVERVIEW

Epilepsy, which is sometimes called a seizure disorder, is a broad term used for a brain disorder that causes recurring seizures. A seizure is a brief change in normal brain activity that can cause changes in awareness, behavior, or body movement. Seizures are the main sign of epilepsy.

Epilepsy affects an estimated 3.4 million people in the United States.¹ Similar to other chronic diseases, epilepsy affects many aspects of a person's life, including not only their health, but daily activities and life opportunities. CDC received initial funding to address epilepsy in 1994. Since then, CDC has followed epilepsy partner recommendations and national health promotion objectives to guide its agenda on epilepsy surveillance, research, program development, public awareness, and partnerships to address the public health dimensions of epilepsy.²

In 2010, recognizing the ongoing challenges of epilepsy, a coalition of 24 federal and nonprofit professional and advocacy organizations charged the Institute of Medicine (IOM) to



identify progress and gaps in the epilepsy field—and make comprehensive recommendations to reinforce and guide future public health action to improve epilepsy care and quality of life among people with epilepsy.

The IOM assembled two workshops to obtain input from nearly 100 epilepsy experts, researchers, and people with epilepsy and their loved ones. Their collective knowledge, testimonies, and personal stories of lived experience were the bedrock of the 2012 report *Epilepsy Across the Spectrum: Promoting Health and Understanding.*³

Importantly, *Epilepsy Across the Spectrum* identified 13 recommendations to guide public health action on epilepsy. Of the 13 recommendations, 10 were designated for CDC to lead or co-lead with partners (recommendations 1, 2, 3, 4, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13). Although recommendations 5 and 7 were not designated for CDC, the agency made relevant contributions to address them. Recommendation 6 was outside the scope of CDC's work.

Since 2012, CDC has been responsive in addressing the IOM's recommendations through coordination of extramural and intramural activities that incorporated IOM recommendation objectives. Additionally, CDC has provided updated inventories of activities representing progress achieved to the committee that developed the IOM recommendations and to the Epilepsy Leadership Council.

This 10-year progress report serves as the final inventory of CDC extramural and intramural activities. Activities encompass those supported directly by both the National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion's Epilepsy Program and the National Center on Birth Defects and Developmental Disabilities and indirectly by other CDC centers (e.g., National Center for Health Statistics). References for this report are provided in **Appendix A**.

The IOM recommendations are organized within two established public health frameworks.^{4,5} Select activities, key outcomes, and demonstrations of reach and impact are highlighted for each recommendation. **Appendix B** includes a comprehensive inventory of activities organized by recommendation and year. These activities include those with inconclusive outcomes to demonstrate that an activity was supported by CDC but requires more action. **Appendix C** contains an expanded list of publications, presentations, reports, workshops, and outcomes by recommendation.

This report has several limitations. First, it is an incomplete assessment of outcomes for activities ongoing in 2022. Second, although referenced publications have undergone peerreview, other reported outcomes are derived from awardee-submitted reports. CDC applied a conservative approach regarding selecting awardee outcomes. Therefore, some outcomes may be underestimated relative to assessing overall program reach and impact. Readers are encouraged to review publications for a more comprehensive overview of activities



implemented and outcomes achieved. Third, where activities and outcomes overlapped, they were described where they most closely aligned with the IOM recommendation narrative. Fourth, for simplicity throughout the report, distinctions between CDC's centers and institutes involved in each activity are not made, but most activities described were coordinated and funded by the CDC Epilepsy Program, which is also responsible for this report. Fifth, epilepsy can be characterized as idiopathic (attributed to an unknown cause) or secondary (attributed to known causes such as stroke, brain tumor, or central nervous system infections). Therefore, except where noted, most activities and estimates in this report are associated with both idiopathic and secondary epilepsy. As it was not possible to address all methodological nuances and limitations of various estimates presented in this report, readers are encouraged to review supporting references for these details relative to specific estimates presented.

CDC is grateful to its many partners who helped implement the activities described in this report and remains committed to continued public health action on epilepsy to prevent it and to improve the health and quality of life of people with epilepsy.





EPILEPSY FACTS AND FIGURES: US POPULATION

- About 3 million adults (≥18 years) and 470,000 children (≤17 years) live with active epilepsy.¹
- The age-standardized incidence of (idiopathic) epilepsy is 47.6 per 100,000 population, representing about 150,000 people who will develop epilepsy each year.⁶
- In 2019, total epilepsy-attributable health care spending for the noninstitutionalized population with epilepsy was estimated to be \$5.4 billion; the cost for seizure was \$19.0 billion, and the cost for epilepsy or seizure was \$25.4 billion.⁷ Total health care costs (epilepsy-attributable and other health-related costs) for noninstitutionalized people with epilepsy or seizure was \$54 billion.⁷
- People with epilepsy of all ages are at higher risk of co-occurring conditions (e.g., depression) that negatively affect health and quality of life.^{8–11}
- Less than half (44%) of people taking epilepsy medications were seizure-free in the past year.¹²



- Among children with intellectual and developmental disabilities, epilepsy/convulsions was the most frequent reason for hospitalizations.¹³
- Children with epilepsy miss more days of school than children without epilepsy.¹⁴
- People with epilepsy are at an increased risk of premature mortality in all age groups.¹⁵
- Males, non-Hispanic Black people, and adults aged 85 years or older with epilepsy are at higher risk of death.¹⁶
- Age-adjusted epilepsy mortality rates (as any listed cause of death) per 100,000 significantly increased from 0.58 in 2005 to 0.85 in 2014 (47% increase).¹⁶
- Sudden unexpected death in epilepsy (SUDEP) occurs in about 1 in 1,000 people with epilepsy.¹⁷
- People with epilepsy are at 22% higher risk of suicide than the general population.¹⁸
- About one-half of adults with active epilepsy and seizures have annual family incomes under \$25,000.¹⁹ In addition:
 - Adults with epilepsy are more likely to report an inability to afford medication and specialty care than adults without epilepsy.²⁰
 - Adults with epilepsy are more likely to report delayed care because of transportation barriers.²⁰
 - Adults with epilepsy are more likely to be in families that have difficulties paying medical bills overall.²⁰
- Epilepsy is common, costly, and complex. Epilepsy is associated with barriers that limit access to timely and effective treatment and life opportunities.

Public Perceptions of Epilepsy

Among US adults in 2017:

- 16% felt knowledgeable about epilepsy.
- 25% knew seizure first aid.
- 20% were confident they could help someone having a seizure with appropriate seizure first aid.
- 56% correctly identified symptoms or signs associated with generalized seizures, but less than 20% correctly identified symptoms or signs associated with focal seizures.
- 33% wanted to learn more about epilepsy.²¹





PUBLIC HEALTH APPROACHES APPLIED TO EPILEPSY

Multiple public health strategies are needed to address this common and complex disorder and the ongoing need to understand:

- Incidence, prevalence, risk factors, co-occurring conditions, quality of life, cost, and related outcomes.
- Facilitators and barriers to timely and appropriate care.
- Optimal coordination of clinical and community services.
- Best practices to improve health literacy and self-management approaches.
- Approaches to improve public understanding of epilepsy and reduce stigma.
- The effectiveness, impact, and support for health equity.



A multifaceted, coordinated public health approach to epilepsy should be grounded in a framework that encompasses the three core public health functions: Assessment, Policy Development, and Assurance.⁴ These core functions (**Figure 1**) provide the foundation for any public health activity and underlie past and ongoing CDC activities on epilepsy.



Figure 1. Public health core functions.⁴



CDC PROGRESS ON IOM RECOMMENDATIONS

The CDC Epilepsy Program used the three core public health functions framework (Figure 2) and the CDC Science Impact Framework (Figure 3) to characterize and evaluate progress across 12 of the 13 IOM recommendations.^{4,5} CDC's activities and accomplishments from 2012 to 2022 were organized by the IOM recommendations and then aligned across one of three core public health functions:

- Data and Assessment for Insight and Action (Assessment): includes activities such as data surveillance and epidemiological studies (recommendations 1, 2, 4).
- Policies and Partnerships to Mobilize and Strengthen (Policy Development): includes activities such as social media campaigns, education and training programs, and care coordination efforts (recommendations 7, 8, 9, 11, 13).
- Evaluation and Strategy Toward Effectiveness and Improvement (Assurance): includes activities such as prevention, quality assurance, standardized performance metrics, community care coordination, and strategic partnerships (recommendations 3, 5, 10, 12).





The **CDC Science Impact Framework** encompasses five domains of scientific influence that define the degree of impact that an activity may have on the public.⁵ The five domains are:

- **Disseminating Science** through scientific or trade publications, professional meetings, social media campaigns, and training courses.
- **Creating Awareness** through continuing education courses, focus groups, and partnerships with professional societies.
- **Catalyzing Action** through funding new research or projects, conducting research and evaluation, forming collaborative agreements, or creating new tools and technologies.
- Effecting Change through new surveillance systems, policy changes, social and behavioral changes, guideline creation, and science translation.



• Shaping the Future through continuous quality improvement, implementation initiatives, improved prevalence and incidence reporting, health outcomes reporting, reduced economic burden, and improved quality of life and life expectancy.



Figure 3. CDC Science Impact Framework.⁵

The CDC Science Impact Framework assumes that the degree of impact of any one activity may not be reflected at every domain. For each IOM recommendation, CDC considered how its activities influenced outcomes and selected one or two domains that best exemplified the effect these activities have had on public health.

The following sections demonstrate CDC progress across each IOM recommendation. Progress is presented through a description of select activities, the outputs of those activities, the impact of those outputs, and select highlighted accomplishments.

Readers are encouraged to review a comprehensive list of activities in **Appendix B**. Readers are also encouraged to review a more comprehensive overview of CDC outcomes in **Appendix C**, which includes a wide representation of peer-reviewed publications (and other reported outcomes derived from awardee-submitted reports directly responsible for data quality); scientific and educational workshops, presentations, and podcasts; and other professional and consumer reports.



DATA AND ASSESSMENT FOR INSIGHT AND ACTION

IOM Recommendation 1: Validate Standard Definitions for Case Ascertainment

The IOM recommended that CDC collaborate with federal agencies and epilepsy organizations to fund projects to validate and implement standard definitions for epilepsy case ascertainment, health care services use and costs, quality of life, and related outcomes for use in different data collection systems to guide surveillance and inform program and policy development.

Since 2012, the CDC Epilepsy Program has addressed this recommendation through several cooperative agreements supporting the use of standardized or validated criteria within multiple epidemiological research studies. (Cooperative agreements are assistance mechanism used when there is substantial agency involvement beyond normal oversight and monitoring activities.) CDC has also conducted intramural research using standardized, validated criteria for epilepsy case ascertainment.

1	Validate and implement standard definitions and criteria for epilepsy case ascertainment, health care and community services use and costs, and quality-of-life measurement.
CDC Epilepsy Program Activities	 Issued research cooperative agreements to: Expand surveillance and epidemiologic studies using standardized data definitions. Examine local, state, and national health care service use and cost. Develop and validate case ascertainment criteria and survey questions to identify incident and prevalent cases of epilepsy overall and/or by epilepsy subgroups. Examine treatment gaps.
	 Used multiple data sources to examine: Health care costs. Seizure burden by type. Quality of life and well-being. Access to care. Links to community care. Rare epilepsy burden. Mortality.
Output	 Increased use of underutilized tools (e.g., National Institutes of Health Patient Reported Outcomes Measurement Information System [PROMIS] measures) and data sources (e.g., CDC School Health Profiles Survey, Medical Expenditure Panel Survey) to characterize epilepsy burden and costs. Improved understanding of:
	 Scope and cost of epilepsy among adults and children. Access to specialists or community services. Gaps in care by subgroups (e.g., race/ethnicity, insurance type).



Impact Disseminating Science:

Funded research led to multiple published articles in peer-reviewed journals and multiple presentations to professional audiences. These studies documented the availability of standardized epilepsy case ascertainment criteria using multiple underutilized data sources and advanced knowledge in areas such as epilepsy burden, medical costs, treatment gaps, and diagnostic gaps.

For more information, see Appendix B (pages 48–49) and Appendix C (pages 55–56).

Highlights

Healthy People 2020, a national health promotion initiative, called for increasing the proportion of adults who self-report good or better health to 80%. The Patient-Reported Outcomes Measurement Information System (PROMIS) Global Health Survey is a reliable, validated tool for adults to self-report their physical and mental health. Using PROMIS Global Health Survey data from the 2010 National Health Interview Survey, CDC compared the age-standardized prevalence of reporting good or better physical or mental health among adults with epilepsy to adults with other chronic health conditions, such as heart disease, cancer, or hypertension.²²

They found that the percentage of adults with epilepsy reporting good or better physical health (52%) was significantly lower than the percentages of adults with heart disease, cancer, or hypertension.²² Additionally, the percentage of adults with epilepsy reporting good or better mental health (54%) was significantly lower than the percentage of adults with all selected conditions. The percentages of adults with epilepsy who reported either outcome fell dramatically short of the Healthy People 2020 goal (**Figure 4**).²² These findings provided baseline estimates intended to track progress in health services, community programs, and policies to improve the quality of life for people with epilepsy.



Figure 4. Age-adjusted percentage of adults with select chronic conditions reporting good or better physical and mental health, PROMIS Global Health data.²²

Note: Figure includes Healthy People (HP) 2020 targets for each condition.

The International Classification of Diseases, Ninth Revision (ICD-9) defines multiple types of epilepsy, the distribution of which varies across age, etiology, provider diagnostic capability, and assessment criteria. Diagnostic accuracy is essential for developing an effective treatment plan. CDC used MarketScan data from nearly 400,000 people diagnosed with epilepsy from 2010 to 2015 to estimate the proportion of diagnosed epilepsy types.²³ Findings indicated that "unspecified epilepsy" was the most common diagnosis, highlighting a need for improved training in epilepsy diagnosis and coding (**Figure 5**).²³





To update national estimates of health care costs associated with epilepsy and provide the first estimates of costs associated with seizure and epilepsy or seizure, CDC funded researchers to use pool data from Medical Expenditure Panel Survey (MEPS) household component files for 2010–2018 to examine health care spending overall and by site of care and to examine trends in spending growth for people with epilepsy (n=1,078), seizure (n=2,344), or epilepsy or seizure (n=3,422).⁷ (Health care spending represented costs paid from insurers to providers and out of pocket by respondents.) Estimates were adjusted for select sociodemographic factors (e.g., age group, sex, education) and comorbidities (e.g., stroke, diabetes, arthritis). Costs were updated to 2019 US dollars. People with epilepsy incur total health care costs of \$13.4 billion (**Figure 6**). The health care costs attributable to epilepsy, as opposed to other diseases, are \$5.4 billion.

These costs are considered underestimates for three reasons: the MEPS methodology is limited to noninstitutionalized adults; epilepsy and seizure case ascertainment is based on a recent medical encounter or a loss of work or school day attributed to these conditions; and other biases, such as omission of indirect costs, are possible.⁷



Figure 6. Total burden of epilepsy, seizure, and epilepsy or seizure costs, per patient and nationally.

Note: Estimations of the national burden of epilepsy, seizure, and epilepsy or seizure assume a population of 314 million noninstitutionalized, community-dwelling people and treated prevalence of epilepsy, seizure, and epilepsy or seizure of 0.38%, 0.76%, and 1.14%, respectively. MEPS operationalizes "treated prevalence" as people who attribute a recent medical encounter, prescription drug, or disability day to a particular condition, such as epilepsy or seizure.⁷

IOM Recommendation 2: Expand Surveillance

The IOM recommended that CDC expand its lead in epilepsy surveillance through collaboration with local, state, federal, and academic partners to better understand epilepsy burden (e.g., incidence, prevalence, comorbidity, mortality, health care services use) in representative populations and in subgroups and use novel approaches.

Since 2012, the CDC Epilepsy Program has expanded its surveillance efforts through intramural and extramural activities. These activities include sponsoring validated epilepsy-related questions on the 2010, 2013, 2015, 2017, 2021, and 2022 National Health Interview Survey. These efforts led to multiple *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report (MMWR)* articles and other articles published by CDC that garnered media attention to raise visibility of the national burden of epilepsy (**Appendix C**). Since 2010, CDC has funded at least eight academic institutions or contractors to conduct population-based epidemiologic studies of epilepsy, including use of administrative datasets and/or electronic health records. CDC also



co-funded at least 22 states/jurisdictions to expand the SUDEP registry to assess mortality associated with SUDEP and at least 10 states to examine co-occurring conditions among people with intellectual or developmental disability.

2	Continue and expand collaborative surveillance and data collection efforts.
CDC Epilepsy Program Activities	Funded and/or facilitated:
	 Epidemiological studies to better understand epilepsy incidence, prevalence, and associated disability across the life span. Surveillance across select states and jurisdictions on SUDEP, pediatric rare epilepsy burden, and intellectual and developmental disabilities among specific populations.
	Expanded surveillance through:
	 Addition of epilepsy-related questions on public health surveys. Data collection on epilepsy across specific populations, such as children with autism and/or intellectual and developmental disabilities. Data collection to understand knowledge, experiences, and attitudes about epilepsy. Data collection to understand co-occurring conditions, morbidity, and mortality.
Output	Multiple publications and national, state, or local presentations on:
	 National and state-level estimates of epilepsy prevalence Mortality among subgroups of people with epilepsy (e.g., adults, children, veterans). Case identification and referrals to supportive services among children with epilepsy in schools. Physical and mental co-occurring conditions. Race/ethnic disparities in access to care. Burden of epilepsy associated with Zika virus.
	 SUDEP in infants and children. Cost burden of epilepsy. Epilepsy stigma.
Impact	Disseminating Science:
	Advanced understanding of epilepsy data sources, underutilized epilepsy data sources, and epilepsy burden trends across different populations.

For more information, see Appendix B (page 49–50) and Appendix C (pages 56–58).

Highlights

CDC has been instrumental in the inclusion of epilepsy-related questions in surveillance systems and population surveys and has co-led analysis of epilepsy-related data in other publicly available population or administrative data sets. Some examples of population data sources used to advance epilepsy knowledge include:

• Autism and Developmental Disabilities Monitoring Network.

- Medicaid data (select states and years).
- Medical Expenditure Panel Survey.
- National Child Death Review Case Reporting System.
- National Health Interview Survey.
- National Survey of Children's Health.
- National Survey of Children with Special Health Care Needs.
- National Violent Death Reporting System.
- School Health Profiles surveys.
- Porter Novelli DocStyles survey.
- Porter Novelli HealthStyles survey.
- Sudden Death in the Young Case Registry (state/jurisdiction level).
- US Zika Pregnancy and Infant Registry.
- Wide-ranging ONline Data for Epidemiologic Research (WONDER) mortality files.

Examples of expanded collaboration within and across CDC include:

- Epilepsy Program and National Center for Injury Prevention collaboration on analysis of suicide burden in epilepsy using the National Violent Death Reporting System.
- Epilepsy Program and the Division of Reproductive Health collaboration with external partners, including the National Center for Child Death Review, to examine causes of death.
- Epilepsy Program and National Center on Birth Defects and Developmental Disabilities collaboration on guidance related to tracking epilepsy burden associated with Zika virus infection.
- Epilepsy Program and School Health Program collaboration for the inclusion of epilepsy questions in the 2014, 2016, 2017, and 2018 CDC School Health Profiles surveys.
- Epilepsy Program and National Center for Health Statistics collaboration for the inclusion of epilepsy questions on the 2010, 2013, 2015, 2017, 2021, and 2022 National Health Interview Survey to examine epilepsy burden.



- Epilepsy Program and CDC Office of Communication collaboration to support data collection from the 2013 HealthStyles survey to examine attitudes toward epilepsy in the US population.
- Epilepsy Program and CDC Office of Communication collaboration to support data collection from the 2017 HealthStyles survey to examine knowledge about epilepsy and seizure first aid in the US population.
- Epilepsy Program and CDC Office of Communication collaboration to support data collection from the 2018 DocStyles survey to examine general practitioners' experiences and attitudes toward referral of epilepsy patients to specialty care.

IOM Recommendation 4: Early Identification

The IOM recommended collaborations between professional organizations and relevant federal agencies, including CDC, to promote and disseminate screening programs or protocols to identify epilepsy in populations at high risk, epilepsy comorbidities, and patients with poorly controlled epilepsy.

Since 2012, the CDC Epilepsy Program has supported cooperative agreements and activities to examine epilepsy risk factors, ascertain co-occurring conditions among children and adults with epilepsy, implement validated screening tools to identify populations at high risk, and develop validated instruments to assess epilepsy self-management behaviors.





• Progress in identifying an aptamer-based screening tool to detect neurocysticercosis.

Impact Catalyzing Action:

The development of screening tools and coordinated screening protocols led to increased identification of common co-occurring conditions and referrals to appropriate services. Implementation pilots demonstrated feasibility for scaling up within other communities.

For more information, see Appendix B (page 51) and Appendix C (pages 62–63).

Highlights

The CDC Epilepsy Program funded the use of multiple, large, population-based data sources to identify physical and mental comorbidities among people with epilepsy. For example, CDC-funded researchers used CDC-supported Medical University of South Carolina Epilepsy Surveillance System data to examine co-occurring conditions among 120,129 people with epilepsy.²⁵ They found that:

- Black adults with epilepsy had significantly higher prevalence of diabetes, cardiovascular diseases, HIV/AIDS, alcoholism, and schizophrenia.
- People with epilepsy residing in rural communities had a significantly higher burden of co-occurring conditions than their counterparts living in urban communities.
- More than half of people with epilepsy had a median household income of less than \$36,000 for a family of four.
- Families of four with a median household income of less than \$36,000 had a 2.5 times higher risk of co-occurring conditions than families of four with a median household income of more than \$54,000.

In another study, CDC-funded researchers from Case-Western Reserve University used five years of Medicaid claims data from 16 states to identify the burden of racial and ethnic disparities among people with epilepsy.²⁶ Among 81,963 people with epilepsy who used Medicaid:

- The most common co-occurring conditions were anxiety and mood disorders (46.5%), hypertension (36.9%), back problems (35.2%), developmental disorders (31.6%), and headache (29.5%).
- American Indian or Alaska Native people with epilepsy had substantially higher prevalence of developmental disabilities.
- Black people with epilepsy had higher prevalence of hypertension.



- High users of Medicaid had much higher disease burden, with 75.8% having an anxiety or mood disorder.
- High users of Medicaid had a higher burden of injuries.

These and other research studies revealed disparities by race and ethnicity, geographical location, income, and Medicaid use among people with epilepsy. These findings can help focus the intervention strategies needed to promote health equity and improve quality of life among populations affected by disparities.

POLICIES AND PARTNERSHIPS TO MOBILIZE AND STRENGTHEN

IOM Recommendation 7: Health Professional Education

The IOM recommended that CDC collaborate with other organizations to support the development and evaluation of educational materials and training approaches that reflect best practices for interdisciplinary health professionals who care for people with epilepsy.

Since 2012, the CDC Epilepsy Program has funded three nonresearch and three research cooperative agreements for the development and dissemination of evidence-based educational materials or training programs designed to reach different professional populations, such as primary care providers, first responders, behavioral health providers, school nurses, community health workers, and other groups. CDC has also supported Project Extension for Community Healthcare Outcomes (ECHO) pilots to train general practitioners on best practices for epilepsy management.²⁷

7	Improve health professional education about the epilepsies.
CDC Epilepsy Program Activities	 Funded three non-research cooperative agreements with the Epilepsy Foundation to:
	 Develop epilepsy education materials for multidisciplinary health care professionals, school nurses, educators, and first responders. Implement a Project ECHO pilot to train general practitioners on epilepsy best practices. Implement a Project ECHO pilot to train school nurses on epilepsy best practices.
	Partnered with national organizations to develop the first community health worker curriculum
	 Funded a research cooperative agreement to determine the efficacy of the integration of community health care workers in epilepsy clinics to improve health and social outcomes. Funded three research cooperative agreements to support training of MEW Network program facilitators.
	 Supported multiple provider training sessions at national conferences (e.g., American Epilepsy Society) and provider training webinars through partnerships (e.g., National Association of County Behavioral Health and Disability Directors).
	 Participated in podcasts and community forums to reach community-based providers with information on epilepsy management.
Output	 Novel, feasible, and effective epilepsy training curriculums for behavioral health providers, community health workers, and other groups
	 Evidence of feasibility and effectiveness of Project ECHO to address gaps in access to epilepsy specialty care for potential scale-up.
	 Training for over 270 MEW Network program facilitators. Training for at least 150 community health workers.
	 Improved awareness and understanding among providers of epilepsy care and unmet medical and social needs.
	 Accreditation of the Texas Department of Health Services to carry out the CDC-developed community health worker epilepsy self-management curriculum.
Impact	Effecting Change:
	The implementation of education and novel training programs funded and developed by CDC expanded their reach to general and specialized practitioners, community health workers, and other community service providers, such as school nurses and first responders. These programs improved provider knowledge, increased provider confidence, and helped dispel common misconceptions about epilepsy.

For more information, see Appendix B (pages 51–52) and Appendix C (page 64).

Highlights

Epilepsy is a complex disorder that requires specialized medical knowledge to support an accurate diagnosis and an appropriate treatment plan. Unfortunately, the United States has a shortage of epilepsy specialists, and research indicates that more than half of people with active epilepsy who do not take medication for their seizures have only been seen by a primary care provider.²⁷ This shortage of specialists, which is expected to continue, has created an urgent need to train primary care providers on epilepsy best practices in diagnosis, treatment, and referral.^{1,27}



To close this gap, the CDC Epilepsy Program provided support to the Epilepsy Foundation and the University of Cincinnati to assess the effectiveness of a telementoring program to help primary care providers deliver best-in-practice neurology and epilepsy care. This program, called Project ECHO, was originally created to improve the treatment of patients with hepatitis C in rural communities.²⁸ For this pilot program, Project ECHO was adapted to connect primary care providers with a panel of clinical epilepsy specialists using case-based learning delivered through videoconferencing.

Project ECHO for Epilepsy and Neurology consisted of 10 one-hour sessions each month from September 2018 (year 1) to July 2020 (year 2). A total of 164 primary care providers from Ohio and surrounding states participated.²⁷ Each session included an average of 28 participants and the following four components:

- A 20-minute presentation by a neurology expert.
- Case presentations by the participants.
- A discussion period between participants and the specialist panel.
- A briefing to summarize the discussion and identify recommendations for next steps.

Of the 164 primary care providers, nearly 3 in 4 reported seeing at least one patient with epilepsy each week, and 1 in 5 reported seeing 16 or more adult patients with epilepsy each week.²⁷ After completing the program, 97% of participants reported higher interest in improving their care of patients with epilepsy, and more than 98% reported feeling more comfort and self-efficacy for treating epilepsy.²⁷ The primary care providers credited the success of the program to their ability to actively engage in discussions focused on specific topics, such as recommended screening tools and the latest research in epilepsy treatment.

From 2018 to 2021, Project ECHO pilots trained over 900 primary care and advanced practice providers and nearly 250 school nurses (**Appendix C**, page 64). In 2021, the CDC Epilepsy Program provided funding to the Epilepsy Foundation in collaboration with the University of Cincinnati and the American Academy of Pediatrics to adapt Project ECHO for rare epilepsies. By supporting an evidence-based bridge to close the gap in specialty care providers, CDC has promoted a step forward in improving care for all people with epilepsy.

CDC also supported the Epilepsy Foundation to reach school nurses with traditional in-person and online training programs. Through their Managing Students with Seizures and Seizure Training for School Nurses: Caring for Students programs, the Epilepsy Foundation reached over 75,000 school nurses from 2011 to 2021.



IOM Recommendation 8: Delivery and Coordination of Services

The IOM recommended that CDC collaborate with the Epilepsy Foundation and other partners to foster collaboration among community-based organizations in order to enhance access to local educational and community services and resources to meet both the health and social needs of people with epilepsy. This recommendation also called for efforts to develop and disseminate educational and training opportunities for community service providers focused on epilepsy awareness and seizure first aid training.

Since 2012, the CDC Epilepsy Program has funded three 5-year, nonresearch cooperative agreements supporting the Epilepsy Foundation and other community-based organizations to improve the delivery and coordination of services, especially among populations with unmet needs. This funding has had significant influence in expanding access and connection to community service delivery for thousands of people with epilepsy to address unmet social needs and self-management support. Through two 2020 research cooperative agreements, CDC supported intervention research to train and engage clinic-based community health workers to improve health and social outcomes for adults with epilepsy.

In 2021, CDC funded the Epilepsy Foundation and new partners (American Epilepsy Society, National Association of School Nurses, Epilepsy Association of Western and Central Pennsylvania, and Epilepsy Foundation New England) to enhance the delivery and coordination of care, including developing, implementing, and evaluating protocols with bidirectional links between community and clinical providers in select communities.

8	Improve the delivery and coordination of community services.
CDC Epilepsy Program Activities	 Funding to the Epilepsy Foundation has: Expanded access to community services through a 24/7 referral hotline accessible in English and Spanish and through virtual community networks. Trained information specialists and community service providers on assessment and intervention skills, such as suicide prevention, first aid training, and self-management tools. Created a Seizure Recognition and First Aid certification for the public. Expanded the number and type of epilepsy-related courses in an on-demand Learning Management System. Provided education to multiple sectors of the community, including employers, school personnel and students, and transportation providers (in collaboration with the
	 National Association of School Nurses and select Epilepsy Foundation local offices). Developed partnerships with faith-based organizations. Expanded access to evidence-based epilepsy self-management programs in multiple communities.
Output	 Accredited 24/7 English and Spanish information and referral hotline with updated information on community-based resources. First online seizure recognition and first aid certification training for the general public.

- Extended reach to individuals and communities.
- Implementation of at least 70 MEW Network pilots in local communities.
- Increased understanding of the needs of people with epilepsy.

Impact Catalyzing Action:

Funding from the CDC Epilepsy Program resulted in enhanced capacity to provide the following: updated information about local services and resources to people with epilepsy; new research to integrate community health workers into epilepsy care; new community-based partners to expand outreach to people with epilepsy and their families; increased availability of evidence-based epilepsy self-management programs in communities; and increased capacity to reach people with epilepsy, their support persons, and the general public with seizure first aid training and general awareness of epilepsy to improve knowledge and attitudes about epilepsy.

For more information, see Appendix B (page 52) and Appendix C (page 64).

Highlights

Through multiple cooperative agreements from 2011 to 2026 (**Appendix B**, page 52), the CDC Epilepsy Program funded the Epilepsy Foundation to lead efforts to improve the delivery and coordination of community services. With this support, the Epilepsy Foundation:

- Conducted a needs assessment survey of 1,029 adults with epilepsy and their caregivers, resulting in improved understanding of their concerns about personal safety, inability to pay for medical expenses, inadequate health insurance coverage, lack of knowledge about epilepsy medication, and difficulties finding jobs and maintaining personal relationships.
- Helped approximately 100,000 people with epilepsy from 2011 to 2022 through its 24/7 English and Spanish information and referral hotline. These efforts included:
 - Implementing the first depression screening (using the Patient Health Questionnarie-2²⁴) and referral protocol for the 24/7 helpline, providing at least 10,000 mental health referrals.
 - Training information and referral helpline information specialists in the Applied Suicide Intervention Skills program.
- Implemented the Seizures and Youth: Take Charge programs to decrease stigma, reaching more than 103,000 middle and high school students and teachers.
- Implemented the Seizure Training for School Personnel program in person and online, reaching more than 720,000 school personnel across the United States.
- Implemented Signature Programs in person and online to educate more than 47,000 law enforcement personnel, emergency medical service providers, senior caregivers,



and childcare workers about epilepsy and seizure first aid from 2011 to 2021. The Epilepsy Foundation funded 16 of its local offices to enhance its reach in rural and underserved areas, reaching nearly 3,800 emergency medical services providers, law enforcement personnel, and senior caregivers.

• Implemented a faith-based organization educational program in eight local offices, reaching 10,394 people with epilepsy.

IOM Recommendation 9: Educational Opportunities for Patients and Families

The IOM recommended that CDC collaborate with organizations to develop and increase access to accurate, up-to-date, clear, and culturally and linguistically appropriate educational materials for a diverse spectrum of people with epilepsy and their families. This recommendation called for efforts to support the development, evaluation, replication, and expanded use of self-management and educational programs, including those developed through the MEW Network.

Since 2012, the promotion of high-quality educational materials for all people with epilepsy and their families has been the bedrock of CDC activities. Notably, collaborations with the MEW Network and the Epilepsy Foundation have led to increased awareness and effective self-management of epilepsy across multiple communities.

9	Improve and expand educational opportunities for people with epilepsy and their families.
CDC Epilepsy Program Activities	 Promoted self-management programs through: Funding for the MEW Network to develop, evaluate, and disseminate effective epilepsy programs for different subgroups of people with epilepsy (e.g., based on age group, comorbidity, or race/ethnicity). Expanded funding for the MEW Network to replicate effective programs. Providing free MEW Network provider training programs to increase program adoption. Launching the MEW Network website for patients and providers with information about, resources for, and referral to community-based MEW Network programs. Developing a MEW Network webinar series for multiple audiences. Funding local Epilepsy Foundation offices to build capacity to implement MEW Network programs to serve people with epilepsy. Increased epilepsy educational resources and opportunities through: Funding for the Epilepsy Foundation to: Develop culturally and linguistically appropriate educational materials for select racial/ethnic communities. Improve epilepsy knowledge and social support among culturally diverse communities through broad and focused activities (e.g., Now I Know!,

#BackToSchool, and StoryDays campaigns; outreach to veterans and Asian Americans). Assess epilepsy educational brochures for health literacy and update select documents to meet plain language guidance. Enhance capacity of its online Learning Management System with new or updated content (e.g., Epilepsy 101, Seizure First Aid certification) and functionality (e.g., new portal). Output • Implementation of multiple campaigns focused on people with epilepsy and their families, caregivers, and communities. Expanded access to evidence-based epilepsy self-management tools and resources in multiple communities across the United States. • Increased number of resources that met health literacy and plain language guidance. Increased use of online self-management resources. Increased number of providers trained to deliver epilepsy self-management guidance or programs in communities. Increased course enrollments in the Epilepsy Foundation Learning Management System. *Impact* Creating Awareness and Effecting Change: CDC support for the development, evaluation, and dissemination of evidence-based selfmanagement programs has helped close scientific gaps in the field. The number of evidence-based epilepsy self-management programs supported by the MEW Network increased from three in 2012 to 8 by 2022. Each program is designed to meet the spectrum of needs of people with epilepsy. Providing funding for local program delivery of evidence-based MEW Network programs demonstrated initial feasibility of community, provider, and patient buy-in for these programs as important elements of epilepsy education and care. This has increased the number of communities offering evidencebased epilepsy self-management programs. Enhanced functionality and content of the Epilepsy Foundation online Learning Management System became a timely resource for reaching people interested in learning more about epilepsy during the COVID-19 pandemic. These efforts have promoted the use

of effective self-management tools, increased access to and quality of educational resources, and may have reduced misinformation and stigma surrounding epilepsy.

For more information, see Appendix B (page 53) and Appendix C (page 64).

Highlights

Originally established in 2007 as part of CDC's Prevention Research Centers (PRC) program, the MEW Network's mission is to lead the development and evaluation of epilepsy selfmanagement programs to close long-standing gaps in the field.^{29,30} Consistent with community-based research principles that underlie the PRCs, the MEW Network engages with epilepsy patients, providers, and public health professionals to ensure that its programs are patient-driven and meet community needs. Over the years, the MEW Network has included 2 to 8 PRCs. Partners have included local and national organizations, such as the Epilepsy Foundation, the American Epilepsy Society, and since 2021, Epilepsy Alliance America.



MEW Network programs are generally 8 to 29 weeks long. They are delivered by trained and licensed providers and, in some cases, trained peers with epilepsy. The programs are delivered online or by phone to eliminate barriers to care (e.g., transportation, stigma associated with mental health care). Building on the three epilepsy self-management program efficacy studies conducted before 2012 (WebEase, UPLIFT, PEARLS),²⁹ the CDC Epilepsy Program supported 12 randomized controlled trials to determine initial efficacy and later effectiveness of 11 programs from 2012 to 2022 (**Appendix B**, page 53 and **Appendix C**, pages 59–62 and 64). Specifically, the trials assessed efficacy of new programs (e.g., SMART) and program effectiveness in different subgroups (e.g., UPLIFT among African American and Hispanic adults with epilepsy) to determine improvements in knowledge, self-management, self-efficacy, seizure management, seizure frequency, and positive mood.³⁰ Overall, the CDC MEW Network has found eight programs to be effective:

- **HOBSCOTCH** (HOme-Based Self-management and COgnitive Training CHanges Lives), an online memory and attention program for adults with epilepsy.
- **MINDSET** (Management Information & Decision Support Epilepsy Tool), a tablet-based clinical decision tool for adults with epilepsy available in both English and Spanish.
- PACES (Program for Active Consumer Engagement in Epilepsy Self-management), an in-person or phone-based program to help adults with epilepsy learn strategies for emotional and community adjustment.
- **PEARLS** (Program to Encourage Active, Rewarding Lives), a program to manage depression and improve quality of life among older adults.
- **SMART** (Self-Management for People with Epilepsy and a History of Negative Health Events), a phone-based and online program using peer support to teach health-enhancing behaviors and skills to adults with poorly controlled epilepsy.
- **TIME** (Targeted Self-Management for Epilepsy and Mental Illness), a person-centered program for adults with epilepsy with depression.
- **Project UPLIFT** (Using Practice and Learning to Increase Favorable Thoughts), a phonebased program to improve the mental health and quality of life in adults with epilepsy available with both English- and Spanish-speakers.
- WebEase (Web Epilepsy Awareness Support and Education), an online program incorporating elements of behavioral science change theories and motivational interviewing to improve medication adherence, stress management, and sleep management.

Two programs were evaluated among adolescents or young adults with epilepsy (FOCUS on Epilepsy and YESS), but neither study was able to recruit a sufficient sample size to complete



the randomized controlled trial. An additional program, PAUSE (Personalized Internet Assisted Underserved Self-Management of Epilepsy) was found to be promising (**Appendix C**, page 60).

CDC provided support to the Epilepsy Foundation to implement these programs through its network of offices across the United States. From 2013 to 2021, the Epilepsy Foundation implemented 74 MEW Network pilot sites, resulting in over 600 adults who completed a program (i.e., participants who participated in at least 6 of 8 sessions) (**Figure 7**).

In 2022, CDC is continuing its evaluation of MEW Network programs for adaptability across different populations of focus (e.g., rural-dwelling adults, Spanish-speaking adults). CDC also supported the development and dissemination of culturally appropriate educational materials through its cooperative agreements with the Epilepsy Foundation (**Figure 8**). From 2012 to 2021, these efforts reached hundreds of thousands of patients with epilepsy and their family members.



Figure 7. General scope and location of MEW Network program implementation.

Note: Not all 74 pilot programs are represented in this figure.

2012 2013 2014	2015 2016 2017	2018 2019 2020 2021
 2012 - 2014 Accomplishments: Programs reached 6,589 veterans and their family members. 2,237,365 visits were logged in the Epilepsy Foundation websites and 4,667,798 visits to epilepsy.com. Social media campaigns reached more than 186,000 people. Two webinars on employment services reached 1,718 people. 	 2015 - 2017 Accomplishments: 5,400 brochures translated in Simple Chinese, Traditional Chinese, Vietnamese, and Korean were distributed to clinics and doctors' offices. Self-management programs for health educators and adults with epilepsy increased knowledge and confidence. MEW Network pilots launched. Six online "Chat About" sessions launched. #AimForZero campaign to promote adoption of self-management behavior received nearly 284,666 impressions, 1,021 retweets, and 1,426 likes. 	 2018 - 2021 accomplishments: Aeferred nearly 944 participants to MEW Network programs. Finalized 18 epilepsy courses and 10 quality improvement tools. Launched a new epilepsy learning portal that resulted in more than 175,000 accounts and more than 185,000 course enrollments.

Figure 8. Select accomplishments from 2011–2016 and 2016–2021 Epilepsy Foundation cooperative agreements.

IOM Recommendation 11: Public Awareness Efforts

The IOM recommended that CDC lead efforts to measure public awareness and knowledge about epilepsy, and collaborate with partners to implement large-scale, multimedia, sustainable public awareness campaigns to improve the public's understanding of epilepsy and reduce stigma.

Since 2012, CDC has supported several studies to monitor and improve public knowledge and attitudes about epilepsy.^{21,31-33} CDC has also supported the Epilepsy Foundation and its communication partners (e.g., CBS Partnerships Division, Univision, iHeartMedia, NativeAmericaCalling.com) to implement public awareness campaigns, both for the general public and populations of focus (**Appendix B**, page 54). Specifically, the use of diverse communication channels has ensured a wide reach to different age groups and cultures. Additionally, CDC coordinated at least 13 features on epilepsy that were spotlighted on CDC's home page and disseminated through a listserv of over 50,000 subscribers. CDC also coordinated four CDC radio podcasts featuring results published in the CDC *MMWR* (**Appendix C**, page 65).

11	Coordinate public awareness efforts.
CDC Epilepsy Program Activities	Funded cooperative agreements with the Epilepsy Foundation to:
	 Support public awareness campaigns for both the general public and populations of focus (e.g., Asian Americans, youth, seniors, childcare personnel). Develop and conduct education, awareness, and first aid campaigns using multiple communication channels, including CBS, iHeartMedia, Univision, and Hispanic Communications Network.
	CDC intramural activities included:
	 Funding for a research cooperative agreement to develop and test new communication strategies to reduce epilepsy stigma. Distribution of press releases to highlight epilepsy burden, prevention, and available resources
	 Promotion of a national epilepsy observance month through multiple communication channels
	 Coordination of a special issue of the American Journal of Public Health³⁴ on stigma, featuring an editorial co-authored by former Representative Tony Coehlo, former First Lady Rosalynn Carter, and former US Surgeon General Dr. David Satcher that described epilepsy stigma. Also participated in a media event with Tony Coehlo and Rosalynn Carter at The Carter Center. Publication of newsletter for more than 50,000 subscribers, featuring CDC programs, science, and partners. Distribution of epilepsy information to teachers and students via CDC's BAM! Body and Mind website. Sharing of informational resources via CDC social media, podcasts, and media
	interviews.
Output	 An effective intervention shown to improve attitudes about epilepsy. A systematic review of strategies and effectiveness of past epilepsy anti-stigma interventions. Increased epilepsy content across various media and communications channels.
Impact	Creating Awareness:
	Through multiple CDC-supported Epilepsy Foundation public awareness campaigns, efforts resulted in expanded epilepsy and seizure first aid content reaching millions in diverse communities across the nation.

For more information, see Appendix B (page 54) and Appendix C (page 65).



Highlights

CDC supported the development of culturally appropriate public awareness campaigns to raise awareness of epilepsy and seizure first aid through its cooperative agreements with the Epilepsy Foundation. These campaigns were intended to increase understanding of epilepsy, reduce hesitation in responding to a seizure, and reduce negative public perceptions. Examples of these campaigns are shown in **Figures 9 and 10**.

- Through two cooperative agreements with the Epilepsy Foundation from 2011 to 2021, the CDC Epilepsy Program supported multiple public awareness campaigns designed for both the public and populations of focus.
- In 2013, CDC supported a 26 Days of Epilepsy Awareness campaign, encouraging all Americans (and Asian Americans in particular) to learn, discuss, and share stories about epilepsy. This campaign, in both English and Chinese, reached six key communities and nearly 3 million people across the United States.
- In 2014, the CDC supported the Epilepsy Foundation's #DareTo (Learn More) social media campaign that launched during National Epilepsy Awareness Month. This campaign challenged the public to better understand epilepsy, recognize seizures, and learn proper first aid, with focused efforts to reach Asian American and African American populations.
- In 2015, the Epilepsy Foundation's MEW Network participated in an American Broadcasting Company (ABC) News Twitter chat that generated nearly 16 million impressions.
- From 2016 to 2021, the Epilepsy Foundation launched a new collaboration with the CBS Community Partnerships Division to create the #ShareMySeizure campaign. This campaign educated the public about seizures and first aid using television, email, and social media platforms. In its first year, the campaign reached more than 18 million people in Chicago and Los Angeles. By 2021, it had reached more than 150 million people in Chicago, Atlanta, Philadelphia, Tampa, and Los Angeles.



Figure 9. Public awareness campaigns for select populations.



Figure 10. Campaigns and media products to raise awareness of epilepsy.



- In 2016, CDC supported a literature review to describe misconceptions about epilepsy across Europe, Australia, and North, Central, and South America. The review identified common misconceptions and potential interventions for improving knowledge and attitudes.³¹
- In 2017, CDC supported a pilot study to determine the effectiveness of two brief stigma-reduction videos to reduce stigmatizing attitudes and negative stereotypes. A total of 295 participants watched the videos and completed a web-based survey. The videos were shown to improve knowledge and attitudes about epilepsy.³²
- In 2020, the Epilepsy Foundation translated a Seizure First Aid poster into three Native languages: Cherokee, Navajo, and Lakota. This poster was advertised digitally and in Native American print newspapers, including the *Cherokee Phoenix* and the *Native America Calling*. The foundation also developed social media posts for Native American Heritage Month, using culturally relevant and appropriate Native American and epilepsy images.
- In 2021, CDC supported the Epilepsy Foundation's partnerships with iHeartMedia, Univision, and Hispanic Communications Network to raise awareness about epilepsy and to promote an English/Spanish Seizure First Aid certification program. The iHeartMedia campaign launched in Alaska, North Carolina, Indiana, Alabama, and the District of Columbia, resulting in an estimated 1.6 million impressions through 386 radio spots within 2 months. An email campaign reached an additional 20,000 people. The Univision campaign promoted 255 radio spots, generating more than 1.6 million impressions in California, Florida, New York, and Arizona. Univision's digital platform also generated nearly 900,000 impressions. The Hispanic Communications Network promoted radio spots with 210 radio affiliates that generated over 2.3 million impressions and published an article in 16 newspapers that generated more than 1 million impressions. The CDC Epilepsy Program has funded the Epilepsy Foundation to continue these media campaigns through 2026.

IOM Recommendation 13: Engage People With Epilepsy

The IOM recommended that people with epilepsy and their families actively participate in research, surveillance, education, and awareness activities and advocate for improvements in care by sharing their experiences and communicating their needs and preferences.

Community engagement is fundamental to public health practice. Since 2012, the CDC Epilepsy Program has ensured that people with epilepsy and their families have opportunities to engage in the planning, implementation, and evaluation of both research and nonresearch activities and continues to promote inclusiveness across all cultures and communities.



For more information, see Appendix B (page 54) and Appendix C (page 66).

EVALUATION AND STRATEGY TOWARD EFFECTIVENESS AND IMPROVEMENT

IOM Recommendation 3: Prevention Efforts

The IOM recommended that CDC partner with other organizations to develop and evaluate prevention efforts focused on risk factors for epilepsy and common outcomes of epilepsy.

Since 2012, the CDC Epilepsy Program has supported three levels of prevention: primary (preventing risk factors), secondary (screening to identify disease early), and tertiary (managing post-diagnosis) prevention.

3	Develop and evaluate prevention efforts for epilepsy and its consequences.
CDC Epilepsy Program Activities	 Collaborated with academic or nonprofit partners and other CDC programs to: Develop guidance for the management of risk factors for seizures, such as traumatic brain injury. Fund multiple Small Business Innovation Research biomedical contractors to develop and evaluate screening and diagnostic tools for neurocysticercosis, the most common and preventable cause of epilepsy worldwide. Initiate behavioral health screening tools and protocols. Develop and disseminate communication products to raise awareness of primary prevention of opilopsy by reducing known rick factors (or do strake head injury).
	 Enhance public awareness of and increased community participation for SUDEP prevention.

Output Increased communication products to prevent known epilepsy risk factors. Development and implementation of systematic depression screening protocols and

- referral to mental health services.
- Increased knowledge about aptamer-based screening approaches for neurocysticercosis detection.

Impact Effecting Change:

The CDC Epilepsy Program supported the first community-based depression screening protocol demonstrating feasibility for scale-up, the first depression screening protocol implemented in the Epilepsy Foundation information and referral hotline, and novel approaches to improve screening for neurocysticercosis detection.

For more information, see Appendix B (page 50) and Appendix C (pages 59–62).

Highlights

Since 2012, the CDC Epilepsy Program and Center for Global Health have collaborated to enhance capacity for neurocysticercosis prevention through multiple activities. **Neurocysticercosis (Figure 11)** is a preventable parasitic infection that is a leading cause of adult-onset epilepsy worldwide, accounting for nearly 30% of epilepsy cases in endemic areas³⁵ and up to 10% of emergency room seizure patients in areas of the United States with large immigrant populations.³⁶ **Taenia solium** is a preventable parasitic infection often acquired by eating contaminated food and another primary cause of epilepsy in endemic areas.³⁷

Laboratory tests to identify these infectious diseases have been inadequate. The CDC Epilepsy Program and Center for Global Health leveraged more than \$1 million in Small Business Innovation Research grants to fund researchers to develop and evaluate point-of-care neurocysticercosis screening tools for detecting Taenia solium. Their promising results will inform future studies to reduce the burden of neurocysticercosis in the United States and globally.





Figure 11. Neurocysticercosis infection in the brain.

Note: Under a magnification of 400X, this photomicrograph of a brain tissue specimen revealed the presence of cysticerci in a case of cysticercosis, an infection caused by the ingestion of pork tapeworm Taenia solium eggs. Infestation of the brain tissue by larval tapeworms is known as neurocysticercosis.

The CDC Epilepsy Program has also supported prevention strategies for traumatic brain injury—another common cause of epilepsy—through research and development of sports-related guidelines³⁸ and increased outreach to populations at high risk, such as veterans with traumatic brain injury.

IOM Recommendation 5: National Quality Measurement

The IOM recommended the development and implementation of performance metrics to track high-quality health care in epilepsy and to develop accountability and transparency to incentivize change.

Although this recommendation was not directed to CDC, the CDC Epilepsy Program and the National Center on Birth Defects and Developmental Disabilities developed the first Healthy People 2020 national objective for epilepsy focused on tracking access to specialty care and tracked its status through the last decade.





Highlights

The CDC Epilepsy Program and the National Center on Birth Defects and Developmental Disabilities developed the first Healthy People 2020 national objective for epilepsy: to increase the proportion of people with epilepsy and uncontrolled seizures who receive appropriate medical care.

Using National Health Interview Survey data, CDC has tracked progress on this objective over the last decade. CDC found that the proportion of adults with epilepsy and uncontrolled seizures who received appropriate medical care increased from 57.7% in 2010 to 65.7% in 2013, exceeding the Healthy People 2020 target (Figure 12).



Data Source: National Health Interview Survey (NHIS), Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Health Statistics (CDC/NCHS) Error Bar represents the 95% confidence interval

Figure 12. CDC tracking of progress against the Healthy People 2020 target for people with epilepsy and uncontrolled seizures.

IOM Recommendation 10: Information for Media

The IOM recommended that CDC collaborate with other epilepsy-relevant organizations to provide information to journalists, writers, and producers to help increase public knowledge about epilepsy and combat stigma.

Since 2012, the CDC Epilepsy Program has supported large, coordinated efforts to promote positive storylines about people with epilepsy and to educate the public about the disorder and reduce stigma associated with epilepsy.



For more information, see Appendix B (pages 53–54) and Appendix C (page 65).

Highlights

The CDC Epilepsy Program coordinated and partnered with organizations to promote epilepsy awareness through different channels of the media and press.

In 2013, for instance, CDC partnered with The Carter Center to co-sponsor the American Journal of Public Health's special issue and commentary on health-related stigma, using epilepsy as a model³⁴ (**Figure 13**). The Carter Center coordinated a press event to promote the special issue, featuring former Representative Tony Coehlo, former First Lady Rosalynn Carter, and CDC staff.



Figure 13. American Journal of Public Health Editor's Choice article published on The Carter Center website.

In 2017, CDC's *MMWR* office issued a press release focused on the updated national estimates and first-ever, state-level estimates of epilepsy prevalence among adults and children.¹ The press release highlighted that more Americans had epilepsy than ever before, and that the state-level data showed that its prevalence was widespread across the United States. Multiple media channels featured an article based on the press release, reaching millions (**Figure 14**).







IOM Recommendation 12: Vision 20-20 and ELC Partnerships

The IOM recommended that member organizations of Vision 20-20, later known as the Epilepsy Leadership Council (ELC), expand their ongoing collaborations and partnerships to align strategic planning and activities.

In the last decade, CDC has kept its collaborative partners regularly informed of programmatic activities and progress on meeting IOM recommendations through participation in ELC meetings, conference presentations, and ad-hoc workshops.



12	Continue and expand Vision 20-20 working groups and collaborative partnerships.
CDC Epilepsy Program Activities	 Participated in Vision 20-20 and ELC meetings to provide updates on CDC activities and research findings. Coordinated and finalized the US Department of Health and Human Services (HHS) inventory of activities related to epilepsy. Coordinated conference and webinar workshops to focus on underutilized public health resources that could be helpful for epilepsy partners.
Output	 At least five CDC progress reports describing progress on implementing IOM recommendations submitted to Vision 20-20 (now Epilepsy Leadership Council) members. A CDC-led article describing multiple HHS agencies' progress in meeting IOM recommendations on epilepsy. At least five American Epilepsy Society conference public health workshops and/or webinar presentations to engage partners on opportunities for collaboration.
Impact	Catalyzing Action: Ongoing partnerships and collaborations to coordinate strategic direction for epilepsy efforts to promote synergy and reduce redundancy. This ensured that resources are used effectively to advance epilepsy research, program evaluation, intervention development, community services, and—ultimately—improved quality of life for all individuals with epilepsy.
_	

For more information, see Appendix B (page 54) and Appendix C (pages 65–66).

Highlights

In collaboration with the American Epilepsy Society, the CDC Epilepsy Program coordinated a series of public health workshops to raise awareness of underutilized public health resources to address the burden of epilepsy and to foster collaborative partnerships. Some examples of workshop topics in the last decade include:

- Expanding the use of epilepsy self-management programs. Programs and resources from the MEW Network. The National Association of Epilepsy Centers annual meeting at the American Epilepsy Society Annual (2013).
- **Putting the "public" back in health.** Resources and opportunities available to help people with epilepsy. Featuring university experts and CDC staff (2016).
- Strategies to facilitate the transition of youth with epilepsy into adult health care. Featuring the Health Resources and Services Administration, state agencies and organizations, and CDC staff (2018).
- **Epidemiology Special Interest Group.** Presentation focused on epilepsy disparities (2020).



- **Closing gaps in epilepsy care with provider capacity building models.** A Project ECHO training featuring university experts and CDC staff (2021).
- Introduction to health services research in the epilepsies. A joint effort between CDC and the National Institute of Neurological Disorders and Stroke (2021).



APPENDIX A: REFERENCES

- Zack MM, Kobau R. National and state estimates of the numbers of adults and children with active epilepsy – United States, 2015. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep*. 2017;66:821–825. doi:10.15585/mmwr.mm6631a1
- Koh HK, Kobau R, Whittemore VH, Mann MY, Johnson JG, Hutter JD, et al. Toward an Integrated Public Health Approach for Epilepsy in the 21st Century. *Prev Chronic Dis*. 2014;11:140270. doi:10.5888/pcd11.140270
- 3. Institute of Medicine (U.S.) Committee on the Public Health Dimensions of the Epilepsies, England MJ, Liverman CT, Schultz AM, Strawbridge LM, eds. *Epilepsy Across the Spectrum: Promoting Health and Understanding*. Washington (DC): National Academies Press (U.S.); 2012.
- 4. Institute of Medicine. *The Future of the Public's Health in the* 21st Century. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press;2003. doi:10.17226/10548.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Description of the Science Impact Framework. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/os/impact/framework.html</u> Updated October 11, 2017. Accessed July 27, 2022.
- GBD 2017 U.S. Neurological Disorders Collaborators. Burden of Neurological Disorders Across the U.S. From 1990-2017: A Global Burden of Disease Study. JAMA Neurol. 2021;78(2):165–176. doi:10.1001/jamaneurol.2020.4152
- Moura LMVR, Karakis I, Zack MM, Tian N, Kobau R, Howard D. Drivers of U.S. health care spending for persons with seizures and/or epilepsies, 2010–2018. *Epilepsia*. 2022;63(8):2144–2154. doi:10.1111/epi.17305
- 8. Kadima NT, Kobau R, Zack MM, Helmers S. Comorbidity in Adults with Epilepsy United States, 2010. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep.* 2013:62(43);849–853.
- Cui W, Kobau R, Zack MM, Helmers S, Yeargin-Allsopp M. Seizures in children and adolescents aged 6–17 years – United States, 2010–2014. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2015;64(43):1209–1214. doi:10.15585/mmwr.mm6443a2
- 10. Fiest KM, Dykeman J, Patten SB, Wiebe S, Kaplan GG, Maxwell CJ, et al. Depression in epilepsy: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Neurology.* 2013:80:590–599. doi:10.1212/WNL.0b013e31827b1ae0



- 11. Wagner JL, Wilson DA, Smith G, Malek A, Selassie AW. Neurodevelopmental and mental health comorbidities in children and adolescents with epilepsy and migraine: a response to identified research gaps. *Dev Med Child Neurol*. 2015;57(1):45–52. doi:10.1111/dmcn.12555
- 12. Tian N, Boring M, Kobau R, Zack M, Croft J. Active epilepsy and seizure control in adults — United States, 2013 and 2015. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep.* 2018;67(15):437– 442. doi:10.15585/mmwr.mm6715a1
- 13. Lindgren S, Lauer E, Momany E, Cope T, Royer J, Cogan L, et al. Disability, hospital care, and cost: utilization of emergency and inpatient care by a cohort of children with intellectual and developmental disabilities. *J Pediatr*. 2021;229:259–266. doi:10.1016/j.jpeds.2020.08.084
- 14. Pastor PN, Reuben CA, Kobau R, Helmers SL, Lukacs S. Functional difficulties and school limitations of children with epilepsy: findings from the 2009–2010 National Survey of Children with Special Health Care Needs. *Disabil Health J.* 2015;8(2):231–239. doi:10.1016/j.dhjo.2014.09.002
- 15.Neligan A, Bell GS, Johnson AL, Goodridge DM, Shorvon SD, Sander JW. The long-term risk of premature mortality in people with epilepsy. *Brain*. 2011;134(Pt 2):388–395. doi:10.1093/brain/awq378
- 16. Greenlund SF, Croft JB, Kobau R. Epilepsy by the Numbers: Epilepsy deaths by age, race/ethnicity, and gender in the United States significantly increased from 2005 to 2014. *Epilepsy Behav.* 2017;69:28–30. doi:10.1016/j.yebeh.2017.01.016
- 17. Thurman DJ, Hesdorffer DC, French JA. Sudden unexpected death in epilepsy: Assessing the public health burden. *Epilepsia*. 2014;55(10):1479–1485. doi:10.1111/epi.12666
- 18. Tian N, Cui W, Zack M, Kobau R, Fowler KA, Hesdorffer DC. Suicide among people with epilepsy: A population-based analysis of data from the U.S. National Violent Death Reporting System, 17 states, 2003–2011. *Epilepsy Behav*. 2016;61:210–217. doi:10.1016/j.yebeh.2016.05.028
- 19. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention Epilepsy Program. About one-half of adults with active epilepsy and seizures have annual family incomes under \$25,000: The 2010 and 2013 U.S. National Health Interview Survey. *Epilepsy Behav.* 2016;58(5):33–34. doi:10.1016/j.yebeh.2016.02.024
- 20.Tian N, Kobau R, Zack MM, Greenlund KJ. Barriers to and disparities in access to health care among adults aged ≥ 18 years with epilepsy United States, 2015 and 2017.



MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2022;71:697–702. doi:10.15585/mmwr.mm7121a1

- 21. Kobau R, Zack MM. Knowledge of and familiarity with epilepsy in U.S. adults: Results from the 2017 ConsumerStyles Online Panel Survey. *Epilepsy Behav*. 2021;114(Pt A):107535. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2020.107535.
- 22. Kobau R, Cui W, Zack M. Adults with an epilepsy history fare significantly worse on positive mental and physical health than adults with other common chronic conditions— Estimates from the 2010 National Health Interview Survey and Patient Reported Outcome Measurement System (PROMIS) Global Health Scale. *Epilepsy Behav*. 2017;72:182–184. doi:10.1016/j.yebeh.2017.04.047
- 23.Sapkota S, Kobau R, Pastula DM, Zack MM. People with epilepsy are diagnosed most often with unspecified epilepsy, followed by focal epilepsy, generalized convulsive epilepsy, and generalized nonconvulsive epilepsy-U.S. MarketScan data, 2010-2015. *Epilepsy Behav.* 2018;79:244–246. doi:10.1016/j.yebeh.2017.11.004
- 24. Kroenke K, Spitzer RL, Williams JB, Löwe B. The Patient Health Questionnaire Somatic, Anxiety, and Depressive Symptom Scales: a systematic review. *Gen Hosp Psychiatry*. 2010;32(4):345–359. doi:10.1016/j.genhosppsych.2010.03.006
- 25.Selassie A, Wilson, D, Wannamaker B, et al. *Risk Factors of Epilepsy Outcomes: Comorbidities in Population with Epilepsy*. Medical University of South Carolina Department of Public Health Sciences; 2019. <u>https://www.ilae.org/files/dmfile/CDC-</u> <u>ComorbidityFinalReport.pdf</u> Accessed June 15, 2022.
- 26. Bensken WP, Fernandez-Baja Vaca G, Jobst BC, et al. Burden of chronic and acute conditions and symptoms in people with epilepsy. *Neurology*. 2021;97(24):e2368–e2380. doi:10.1212/WNL.00000000012975
- 27.McDonald SB, Privitera M, Kakacek J, Owens S, Shafer P, Kobau R. Developing epilepsy training capacity for primary care providers using the project ECHO telementoring model. *Epilepsy Behav*. 2021;116:107789. doi:10.1016/j.yebeh.2021.107789
- 28. Arora S, Thornton K, Jenkusky SM, Parish B, Scaletti JV. Project ECHO: Linking university specialists with rural and prison-based clinicians to improve care for people with chronic hepatitis C in New Mexico. *Public Health Rep.* 2007;122(suppl 2):74–77. doi:10.1177/00333549071220S214
- 29. Kobau R, Price PH, Hawkins NA. News from the CDC: translating epilepsy selfmanagement research to practice. *Transl Behav Med*. 2012;2(2):124–125. doi:10.1007/s13142-012-0122-y



- 30.Sajatovic M, Jobst BC, Shegog R, et al. Thompson NJ, Kobau R. The Managing Epilepsy Well Network: Advancing Epilepsy Self-Management. *Am J Prev Med*. 2017;52(3 Suppl 3):S241–S245. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2016.07.026
- 31. Herrmann LK, Welter E, Berg AT, Perzynski AT, VanDoren JR, Sajatovic M. Epilepsy misconceptions and stigma reduction: Current status in Western countries. *Epilepsy Behav.* 2016;60(7):165–173. doi:10.1016/j.yebeh.2016.04.003
- 32.Sajatovic M, Herrmann LK, Van Doren JR, et al. A randomized prospective pilot trial of web-delivered epilepsy stigma reduction communications in young adults. *Epilepsia*. 2017;58(11):1946–1954. doi:10.1111/epi.13911
- 33.Cui W, Kobau R, Zack MM, Buelow JM, Austin JK. Recent changes in attitudes of U.S. adults toward people with epilepsy – Results from the 2005 SummerStyles and 2013 FallStyles surveys. *Epilepsy Behav.* 2015;52:108–118. doi:10.1016/j.yebeh.2015.08.040
- 34. Carter R, Satcher D, Coelho T. Addressing stigma through social inclusion. *Am J Public Health*. 2013;103(5):773. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2012.301167
- 35.Reddy DS, Volkmer R. Neurocysticercosis as an infectious acquired epilepsy worldwide. *Seizure*. 2017;52:176–181. doi:10.1016/j.seizure.2017.10.004
- 36.Ong S, Talan DA, Moran GJ, et al. Neurocysticercosis in radiographically imaged seizure patients in U.S. emergency departments. *Emerg Infect Dis.* 2002;8(6):608–613. doi:10.3201/eid0806.010377
- 37.Garcia HH, Gonzalez AE, Gilman RH. Taenia solium cysticercosis and its impact in neurological disease. *Clin Microbiol Rev.* 2020;33(3):e00085-19. doi:10.1128/CMR.00085-19
- Giza CC, Kutcher JS, Ashwal S et al. Summary of evidence-based guideline update: Evaluation and management of concussion in sports. Report of the Guideline Development Subcommittee of the American Academy of Neurology. *Neurology*. 2013;80(24):2250–2257. doi:10.1212/WNL.0b013e31828d57dd



APPENDIX B: CDC ACTIVITIES INVENTORY

IOM RECOMMENDATION 1: VALIDATE STANDARD DEFINITIONS FOR CASE ASCERTAINMENT

Туре	Activity	Status
Extramural	Developed population survey questions to ascertain epilepsy cases.	Completed 2012
Extramural	Validated Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) August 10 through September 10, 2017, International Classification of Diseases, Ninth Revision (ICD-9) survey questions to ascertain prevalent cases of epilepsy in population surveys.	Pre-IOM-2014
Extramural	Developed and validated epilepsy case ascertainment criteria using ICD-9 data.	Pre-IOM-2014
Extramural	Issued fiscal year 2015–2018 (FY15–18) cooperative agreement to use standardized definitions and methods in studies of epilepsy burden.	Completed 2019
Extramural	Issued FY18–19 cooperative agreement "Targeting Treatment Gaps: Describing When, How Quickly, and Why People With Epilepsy Are Referred for Specialty Care."	Completed 2021
Extramural	Issued FY20 cooperative agreement to examine health care services use and costs with validated case ascertainment criteria.	Ongoing
Extramural	Issued FY21 cooperative agreement "Epilepsy Incidence and Etiology: Important Information for Public Health Prevention and Health Promotion in the US Community."	Ongoing
Intramural	Used internationally validated measures to examine well-being outcomes in adults with epilepsy.	Completed 2012
Intramural	Used Patient Reported Outcomes Measurement Information System (PROMIS) measures to examine health-related quality of life (HRQOL) in adults with epilepsy to guide Healthy People 2020 objectives on HRQOL.	Completed 2014
Intramural	Used Medical Expenditure Panel Survey (MEPS) data and standard case definitions to assess health care costs among children with epilepsy.	Completed 2016
Intramural	Supported questions on the 2014 School Health Profiles Survey.	Completed 2017
Intramural	Contributed recommendations for the investigation and certification of deaths in people with epilepsy.	Completed 2018
Intramural	Used standard definitions to assess epilepsy burden and access to care outcomes using administrative data and population surveillance systems.	Ongoing
Intramural	Conducted new validation studies in community-based samples, among pediatric cases, using 2014 International League Against Epilepsy (ILAE) epilepsy definition, parent-reported pediatric epilepsy, and epilepsy mortality including sudden unexpected death in epilepsy (SUDEP).	Ongoing

Туре	Activity	Status
Intramural	Developed and evaluated instruments addressing health care, community services, and costs.	Ongoing
Intramural	Developed methods for case identification and data extraction from electronic health records (EHRs).	Ongoing
Intramural	Conducted comparative validation of ICD-code based algorithms to identify epilepsy from commercial claim databases.	Ongoing
Intramural	Validate nonspecific epilepsy-related terms for case ascertainment.	Ongoing

IOM RECOMMENDATION 2: EXPAND SURVEILLANCE

Туре	Activity	Status
Extramural	Funded ongoing and new cooperative agreements (2012–2021) with academic institutions and contractors to conduct population-based epidemiologic studies.	Ongoing
Extramural	Co-funded CDC Division of Reproductive Health cooperative agreements with at least 22 states/jurisdictions (2013–2021) to expand SUDEP surveillance.	Ongoing
Extramural	Funded cooperative agreements with 10 states to initiate or expand activities to examine Medicaid data for people with intellectual and developmental disabilities (IDD).	Select states/ select years
Extramural	Funded a cooperative agreement to use EHRs and a text processing algorithm to examine pediatric rare epilepsy burden.	Completed 2019
Extramural	Collected data on epilepsy as a co-occurring condition in children identified through the Autism and Developmental Disabilities (ADDM) Network.	Select states/select years
Extramural	Tracked epilepsy/seizure as outcome in US Zika Pregnancy and Infant Registry.	Ongoing
Extramural	Issued FY22 cooperative agreement to use data to promote health and wellness in people with disabilities.	Ongoing
Intramural	Collaborated with National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion (NCCDPHP) and National Center for Health Statistics (NCHS) to analyze epilepsy data in National Survey of Children with Special Health Care Needs.	Completed 2015
Intramural	Supported epilepsy questions on 4 years of the School Health Profiles Survey.	Completed 2017
Intramural	Analyzed suicide burden in epilepsy using National Violent Dearth Reporting System (NVDRS).	Completed 2016
Intramural	Collaborated with National Center for Child Death Review on causes of death.	Completed 2015



Туре	Activity	Status
Intramural	Collaborated with NCCDPHP and National Center on Birth Defects and Developmental Disabilities (NCBDDD) on epilepsy burden in Zika infection.	Completed 2017
Intramural	Included epilepsy questions on 6 years of the National Health Interview Survey (NHIS).	Ongoing
Intramural	Used the 2013 HealthStyles survey to examine US attitudes towards epilepsy.	Completed 2021
Intramural	Used the 2017 HealthStyles survey to examine knowledge about epilepsy first aid.	Completed 2021
Intramural	Used the 2018 DocStyles survey to examine general practitioners' attitudes towards referral of epilepsy patients to specialty care.	Completed 2021
Intramural	Reviewed CDC epilepsy surveillance/epidemiologic studies (1994-2020).	Completed 2020
Intramural	Provided latest national and first state-level estimates of epilepsy burden.	Completed 2017
Intramural	Examined trends in epilepsy mortality using CDC Wonder Mortality files.	Completed 2017

IOM RECOMMENDATION 3: PREVENTION EFFORTS

Туре	Activity	Status
Extramural	Collaborated with American Academy of Neurology to develop guidelines for mild sports traumatic brain injury (TBI).	Completed 2013
Extramural	Collaborated with Center for Global health to reduce epilepsy burden from cysticercosis and taeniasis.	2012-2022
Extramural	Developed and evaluated 11 epilepsy self-management programs via the Managing Epilepsy Well (MEW) Network.	Ongoing
Extramural	Issued funding announcements to support MEW Network replication of programs.	2014-2019
Extramural	Implemented Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-2) depression screening and behavioral health referral protocol in collaboration with Epilepsy Foundation (EF) Central South Texas.	Completed 2021
Extramural	Enhanced public awareness of SUDEP through webinars and participation in Partners Against Mortality in Epilepsy Planning.	Completed 2017
Extramural	Collaborated with the EF in outreach to veterans addressing TBI and epilepsy.	Completed 2016
Extramural	Issued FY18 cooperative agreement to inform interventions on stigma reduction.	Completed 2016



IOM RECOMMENDATION 4: EARLY IDENTIFICATION

Туре	Activity	Status
Extramural	Issued cooperative agreement to fund the South Carolina Epilepsy Surveillance System.	Pre-IOM-2015
Extramural	Issued cooperative agreement with EF to facilitate depression screening and referrals.	Completed 2021
Extramural	Supported awardees to examine epilepsy comorbidity and mortality in intervention and administrative data sets.	Ongoing
Extramural	Supported development and validation of standardized epilepsy self- management screening tool through several cooperative agreements.	Completed 2021
Extramural	Supported epilepsy screening in children with congenital Zika virus infection.	Ongoing
Intramural	Analyzed NHIS 2010 data to examine comorbidity burden in adults with epilepsy.	Completed 2014
Intramural	Analyzed NHIS 2010–2014 data to examine comorbidity in children with seizures.	Completed 2015
Intramural	Collaborated with Veterans Affairs Environment of Care to examine comorbidity and mortality in Gulf War Veterans with epilepsy.	Completed 2016
Intramural	Analyzed NHIS 2010–2017 data to examine burden of psychiatric and physical comorbidities of epilepsy.	Completed 2021

IOM RECOMMENDATION 5: NATIONAL QUALITY MEASUREMENT

Туре	Activity	Status
Intramural	NCCDPHP led development of first Healthy People 2020 national objective on epilepsy.	2012-2021

IOM RECOMMENDATION 6: ACCREDITATION OF EPILEPSY CENTERS

Not applicable to the CDC Epilepsy Program.

IOM RECOMMENDATION 7: HEALTH PROFESSIONAL EDUCATION

Туре	Activity	Status
Extramural	Supported EF-led professional education for school staff, first responders, and other health care professionals through two cooperative agreements.	Completed 2021
Extramural	Implemented a neurology/epilepsy Extension for Community Healthcare Outcomes (ECHO) pilot to train general practitioners on best practices for epilepsy care.	Completed 2021
Extramural	Implemented School Nurse ECHO pilot to train school nurses in epilepsy care.	Completed 2021
Extramural	Trained 270+ providers in MEW Network program delivery.	Ongoing



Туре	Activity	Status
Extramural	Developed virtual training curriculum and conference for behavioral health specialists in Texas and 12 partner organizations.	Completed 2021
Extramural	Initiated cooperative agreement to require training of community health workers to deliver epilepsy care.	Ongoing
Extramural	Initiated cooperative agreement to strengthen health systems to improve epilepsy care.	Ongoing
Extramural	Coordinated CDC Medscape feature on 2017 ILAE definitions of epilepsy focused on reaching primary care providers.	Completed 2018
Intramural	Developed community health care worker curriculum on epilepsy self- management and offered technical assistance in collaboration with several stakeholders.	Completed 2018

IOM RECOMMENDATION 8: DELIVERY AND COORDINATION OF SERVICES

Туре	Activity	Status
Extramural	Through 2011–2016 EF cooperative agreement, supported development of referral services hotline; training of information specialists in the Association of Surgeons in Training (ASIT) program; development of Epilepsy Awareness Management (EAM) collaborative and Nationwide Volunteer Program; performance of needs assessments; and dissemination of epilepsy awareness and seizure first aid materials.	Completed 2016
Extramural	Through 2016–2021 EF cooperative agreement, supported development and dissemination of epilepsy awareness and seizure first aid training for students, school staff, and general public; development of information and referral services hotline; expansion of online Learning Management System; implementation of pilot programs to link to self-management support; education for transportation providers; and performance of needs assessment.	Completed 2021
Extramural	Funded cooperative agreement to examine pediatric rare epilepsy burden using EHRs and text processing algorithm.	Completed 2021
Extramural	Funded MEW Network and EF collaboration to improve program delivery.	Ongoing
Extramural	Issued FY20 funding announcement to coordinate linkage with community health workers.	Ongoing
Intramural	Collaborated with Health Resources and Services Administration's (HRSA) Maternal and Child Health Bureau on National Center for Project Access Advisory Committee.	Completed 2012
Intramural	Developed epilepsy self-management curriculum for community health workers.	Completed 2018

IOM RECOMMENDATION 9: EDUCATIONAL OPPORTUNITIES FOR PATIENTS AND FAMILIES

Туре	Activity	Status
Extramural	Expanded MEW Network funding for program development, testing, and dissemination.	Completed 2014
Extramural	Expanded MEW Network funding for program development, replication, and dissemination.	Completed 2019
Extramural	Developed MEW Network website with patient resources and checklists.	Completed 2019
Extramural	Developed and conducted MEW Network webinar series on self- management.	Completed 2012
Extramural	Created and launched redesigned WebEase program public portal.	Completed 2018
Extramural	Supported EF cooperative agreement "Development and Implementation of Programs to Enhance Epilepsy Public Awareness, Knowledge, and Partnership."	Completed 2016
Extramural	Issued cooperative agreement "Improving Epilepsy Programs, and Outcomes through National Partnerships."	Completed 2021
Extramural	Issued special interest project funding announcement for MEW Network 2.0.	Ongoing
Extramural	lssued funding announcement to improve epilepsy education, systems of care, and health outcomes through national and community partnerships.	Ongoing
Extramural	Maintained Epilepsy Program website with resources and educational materials.	Ongoing
Intramural	Collaborated with HRSA Project Access grantee program.	Completed 2012

IOM RECOMMENDATION 10: INFORMATION FOR MEDIA

Туре	Activity	Status
Extramural	Supported annual Epilepsy Awareness Month media campaigns, supported social media channels, and conducted outreach to Spanish-speaking communities through 2011–2016 cooperative agreement with EF.	Completed 2016
Extramural	Supported partnership with CBS Community Partnership Division on epilepsy awareness campaigns through 2016–2021 cooperative agreement with EF.	Completed 2021
Extramural	Funded cooperative agreement to examine pediatric rare epilepsy burden using EHRs and text processing algorithm.	Completed 2021
Extramural	Collaborated with The Carter Center to co-sponsor American Journal of <i>Public Health</i> issue on health-related stigma through an epilepsy lens.	Completed 2017
Intramural	Published yearly notices of Epilepsy Awareness month in <i>Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report (MMWR)</i> .	2012-2016



Туре	Activity	Status
Intramural	Issued press release on updated national and state estimates of epilepsy.	Completed 2021
Intramural	Collaborated with <i>Epilepsy & Behavior</i> on press release for suicide burden study.	Completed 2016
Intramural	Developed and disseminated bi-monthly GovDelivery messages on epilepsy.	Ongoing

IOM RECOMMENDATION 11: PUBLIC AWARENESS EFFORTS

Туре	Activity	Status
Extramural	Through 2011–2016 cooperative agreement with EF, supported public awareness campaigns for general public and specific cultural communities.	Completed 2016
Extramural	Through 2016–2021 cooperative agreement with EF, supported collaboration with CBS Partnerships Division and partnered with several organizations to promote English and Spanish Seizure First Aid certification programs.	Completed 2021
Intramural	Developed Communications Corner on website with social media widgets.	Ongoing
Intramural	Developed epilepsy content for CDC's BAM! Body and Mind website for teachers and students.	Ongoing

IOM RECOMMENDATION 12: VISION 20-20 AND ELC PARTNERSHIPS

Туре	Activity	Status
Extramural	Participated in Vision 20-20 conference calls regarding the Institute of Medicine (IOM) epilepsy report.	Ongoing
Extramural	Participated in Interagency Collaborative to Advance Research in Epilepsy (ICARE) meetings with the National Institute of Neurological Disorders and Stroke (NINDS) and other Vision 20-20 partners.	Ongoing
Extramural	Presented and collaborated with American Epilepsy Society (AES) to lead CDC Public Health Workshop.	Ongoing

IOM RECOMMENDATION 13: ENGAGE PEOPLE WITH EPILEPSY

See Recommendations 8, 9, 10.

APPENDIX C: SELECT PUBLICATIONS, PRESENTATIONS, AND REPORTS

IOM RECOMMENDATION 1: VALIDATE STANDARD DEFINITIONS FOR CASE ASCERTAINMENT

Bensken W, Fernandez-Baca Vaca G, Jobst BC, et al. Burden of chronic and acute conditions and symptoms in people with epilepsy. *Neurology*. 2021;97(24):e2368-e2380.

Bensken W, Navale SM, Andrew AS, Jobst B, Sajatovic M, Koroukian SM. Delays and disparities in diagnosis for adults with epilepsy: Findings from U.S. Medicaid data. *Epilepsy Res.* 2020;166:106406. doi: 10.1016/j.eplepsyres.2020.106406

Bensken W, Suparna N, Angeline A, Jobst B, Sajatovic M, Koroukian S. Markers of quality care for newly diagnosed people with epilepsy on Medicaid. *Med Care*. 2021;59(7):588–596. doi: 10.1097/MLR.00000000001541

Brooks DR, Avetisyan R, Jarrett KM, et al. Validation of self-reported epilepsy for purposes of community surveillance. *Epilepsy Behav*. 2012;23(1):57–63. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2011.11.002

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. School Health Policies and Practices Brief: Epilepsy and Seizure Disorder. Atlanta, GA: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, U.S. Dept of Health and Human Services; 2017. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/epilepsy/pdfs/SchoolHealthProfilesBrief.pdf</u>

Holden EW, Grossman E, Thanh Nguyen H, et al. Developing a computer algorithm to identify epilepsy cases in managed care organizations. *Dis Manag.* 2005;8(1):1–14. doi: 10.1089/dis.2005.8.1

Ip Q, Malone DC, Chong J. An update on the prevalence and incidence of epilepsy among older adults. *Epilepsy Res.* 2017;139:107–112. doi: 10.1016/j.eplepsyres.2017.11.022

Ip Q, Malone DC, Chong J, et al. Economic impact of epilepsy and the cost of nonadherence to antiepileptic drugs in older Medicare beneficiaries. *Epilepsy Behav.* 2018;80:208–214. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2018.01.009

Kobau R, Cui W, Zack M. Adults with an epilepsy history fare significantly worse on positive mental and physical health than adults with other common chronic conditions—Estimates from the 2010 National Health Interview Survey and Patient Reported Outcome Measurement System (PROMIS) Global Health Scale. *Epilepsy Behav.* 2017;72:182–184. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2017.04.047

Kobau R, Cui W, Kadima N, et al. Tracking psychosocial health in adults with epilepsy–estimates from the 2010 National Health Interview Survey. *Epilepsy Behav.* 2014;41:66–73. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2014.08.002

Kobau R, Luncheon C, Zack MM, Shegog R, Price PH. Satisfaction with life domains in people with epilepsy. *Epilepsy Behav.* 2012;25(4):546–51. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2012.09.013

Kobau R, Sapkota S, Koh HK, Zack MM. National declines in the percentages of uninsured among adults aged 18-64 years with active epilepsy, 2010 and 2013 to 2015 and 2017-U.S. National Health Interview Survey. *Epilepsy Behav.* 2019; 97:316–318. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2019.05.022

Middleton O, Atherton D, Bundock E, et al. National Association of Medical Examiners Position Paper: Recommendations for the investigation and certification of deaths in people with epilepsy. *Acad Forensic Pathol.* 2018;8(1):119–135. doi: 10.23907/2018.009

Miller GF, Coffield E, Leroy Z, Wallin R. Prevalence and costs of five chronic conditions in children. *J Sch Nurs*. 2016;32(5):357–364. doi: 10.1177/1059840516641190

Moura LMVR, Karakis I, Zack MM, Tian N, Kobau R, Howard D. Drivers of U.S. healthcare spending for persons with seizures and/or epilepsies, 2010-2018, *Epilepsia*. 2022;63(8):2144–2154. doi:10.1111/epi.17305



Sapkota S, Kobau R, Pastula DM, Zack MM. People with epilepsy are diagnosed most often with unspecified epilepsy, followed by focal epilepsy, generalized convulsive epilepsy, and generalized nonconvulsive epilepsy–U.S. MarketScan data, 2010–2015. *Epilepsy Behav*. 2018;79:244–246. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2017.11.004

Selassie AW, Wilson DA, Malek AM, et al. Premature deaths among children with epilepsy – South Carolina, 2000–2011. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep.* 2014:63(44);989–994

Tang D, Malone DC. Warholak et al. Healthcare resource burden of newly diagnosed epilepsy in the U.S. low-income elderly population. *Euro Geriatric Med.* 2015;6(3):251–256. doi: 10.1016/j.eurger.2015.02.015

Tang DH, Malone DC, Warholak TL, et al. Prevalence and incidence of epilepsy in an elderly and low-income population in the United States. *J Clin Neurol*. 2015;11(3):252–261. doi: 10.3988/jcn.2015.11.3.252

Thurman DJ, Beghi E, Begley CE, et al. Standards for epidemiologic studies and surveillance of epilepsy. *Epilepsia*. 2011;52 (Suppl 7):2–26. doi: 10.1111/j.1528–1167.2011.03121.x

IOM RECOMMENDATION 2: EXPAND SURVEILLANCE

Baldin E, Hauser WA, Pack A, Hesdorffer DC. Stress is associated with an increased risk of recurrent seizures in adults. *Epilepsia*. 2017;58(6):1037–1046. doi: 10.1111/epi.13741

Bensken WP, Navale SM, Andrew AS, Jobst BC, Sajatovic M, Koroukian SM. Delays and disparities in diagnosis for adults with epilepsy: Findings from U.S. Medicaid data. *Epilepsy Res.* 2020;166:106406. doi: 10.1016/j.eplepsyres.2020.106406

Burns KM, Bienemann L, Camperlengo L, et al. The Sudden Death in the Young Case Registry: Collaborating to understand and reduce mortality. *Pediatrics*. 2017;139(3):e20162757

Burns KM, Cottengim C, Dykstra H, et al. Epidemiology of sudden death in a population-based study of infants and children. Sudden Death in the Young Case Registry. *J Pediatr* 2020;2:100023. doi: 10.1016/j.ympdx.2020.100023

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention Epilepsy Program. Nearly one in five adults with active epilepsy lives alone based on findings from the 2010 and 2013 U.S. National Health Interview Surveys. *Epilepsy Behav.* 2015;51:259–260. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2015.07.034

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention Epilepsy Program. About one-half of adults with active epilepsy and seizures have annual family incomes under \$25,000: The 2010 and 2013 U.S. National Health Interview Survey. *Epilepsy Behav.* 2016;58(5):33–34. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2016.02.024

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention Epilepsy Program. Among adults with epilepsy reporting recent seizures, one of four on antiseizure medication and three of four not on medication had not seen a neurologist/epilepsy specialist within the last year, the 2010 and 2013 U.S. National Health Interview Surveys. *Epilepsy Behav*. 2016;61:78–79. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2016.04.031

Centers For Disease Control and Prevention Epilepsy Program. Internet use and looking up information online in adults with epilepsy varies by epilepsy status – 2013 National Health Interview Survey. *Epilepsy Behav.* 2016;54:47–49. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2015.10.019

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention Epilepsy Program. More than 40% of those not taking antiseizure medication with recent seizures reported that epilepsy or its treatment interfered with their recent activities, 2010 and 2013 U.S. National Health Interview Surveys. *Epilepsy Behav.* 2016;62:129–131. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2016.06.013

Cui W, Kobau R, Zack MM, Buelow JM, Austin JK. Recent changes in attitudes of U.S. adults toward people with epilepsy – Results from the 2005 SummerStyles and 2013FallStyles surveys. *Epilepsy Behav.* 2015;52:108–118. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2015.08.040

Garcia HH, Gonzalez AE, Tsang VCW, et al. Elimination of Taenia solium transmission in Northern Peru. N Engl J Med. 2016;374:2335–2344. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1515520



Greenlund SF, Croft JB, Kobau R. Epilepsy by the Numbers: Epilepsy deaths by age, race/ethnicity, and gender in the United States significantly increased from 2005 to 2014. *Epilepsy Behav.* 2017;69:28–30. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2017.01.016

Grinspan ZM, Tian N, Yozawitz EG, et al. Common terms for rare epilepsies: Synonyms, associated terms, and links to structured vocabularies. *Epilepsia Open.* 2018;3(1):91–97.

Hawley SR, Ablah E, Hesdorffer D, et al. Prevalence of pediatric epilepsy in low-income rural Midwestern counties. *Epilepsy Behav*. 2015;53:190–6. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2015.09.014

Horner-Johnson W, Lindner S, Levy A, et al. Time trends in emergency department use among adults with intellectual and developmental disabilities. *Disabil Health J.* 2021;101225. doi: 10.1016/j.dhjo.2021.101225

Ip Q, Malone DC, Chong J, Harris RB, Labiner DM. An update on the prevalence and incidence of epilepsy among older adults. *Epilepsy Res.* 2018;139:107–112. doi: 10.1016/j.eplepsyres.2017.11.022

Kadima NT, Kobau R, Zack MM, Helmers S. Comorbidity in adults with epilepsy – United States, 2010. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep*. 2013;62(43):849–853.

Kobau R, Luo YH, Zack MM, Helmers S, Thurman DJ. Epilepsy in adults and access to care — United States, 2012. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep*. 2012;61(45);909–913.

Kobau R, Sapkota S, Pennell PB, Croft JB. Epilepsy by the Numbers: Six in 10 adults with active epilepsy saw a neurologist or epilepsy specialist in the past year, United States, 2017. *Epilepsy Behav* 2020;112:107348. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2020.107348

Kobau R, Zack MM, Sapkota S, Sajatovic M, Kiriakopoulos E. When and why U.S. primary care providers do and do not refer their patients with new-onset seizures or existing epilepsy or seizure disorders to neurologists-2018 DocStyles. *Epilepsy Behav.* 2021;125:108385.

Lindgren S, Lauer E, Momany E, et al. Disability, hospital care, and cost: utilization of emergency and inpatient care by children with intellectual and developmental disabilities (IDD). *J Pediatr.* 2021;229:259–266. doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2020.08.084

Lauer E, Lindgren S, Momany E, et al. Health service utilization patterns among Medicaid-insured adults with intellectual and developmental disabilities: Implications for access needs in outpatient community-based medical services. *J Ambul Care Manage*. 2021;44(2):138–147. doi: 10.1097/JAC.00000000000373

Lu Z, Cogan L, McDermott S, et al. Disparities in diabetes management among Medicaid recipients with intellectual and developmental disabilities (IDD): Evidence from five U.S. states. *Disabil Health J* 2020;13(2):100880. doi: 10.1016/j.dhjo.2019.100880

McDermott S, Royer J, Cope T, et al. Using Medicaid data to characterize persons with intellectual and developmental disabilities in five U.S. states. *Am J Intellect Dev Disabil* 2018;123(4):371–381. doi: 10.1352/1944-7558-123.4.371

Middleton O, Atherton D, Bundock E, et al. National Association of Medical Examiners Position Paper: Recommendations for the investigation and certification of deaths in people with epilepsy. *Acad Forensic Path.* 2018; 8(1):119–135. doi: 10.23907/2018.009

Pastor PN, Reuben CA, Kobau R, Helmers SL, Lukacs S. Functional difficulties and school limitations of children with epilepsy: findings from the 2009-2010 National Survey of Children with Special Health Care Needs. *Disabil Health J.* 2015;8(2):231–239. doi:10.1016/j.dhjo.2014.09.002

Pastula DM, Yeargin-Allsopp M, Kobau R. Enhanced epilepsy surveillance and awareness in the age of Zika. *JAMA Neurol.* 2017;74(6):631–632. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2017.0215

Pugh MJ, Van Cott AC, Amuan M, et al. Epilepsy among Iraq and Afghanistan war veterans — United States, 2002–2015. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep*. 2016;65:1224–1227.

Sapkota S, Kobau R, Pastula DM, Zack MM. Close to 1 million U.S. adults aged 55 years or older have active epilepsy-National Health Interview Survey, 2010, 2013, and 2015. *Epilepsy Behav.* 2018;87:233–234. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2018.06.030



Selassie A, Wilson D, Malek A, et al. Premature deaths among children with epilepsy — South Carolina, 2000–2011. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep*. 2014:63(44);989–994.

Selassie AW, Wilson DA, Martz GU, Smith G, Wagner JL, Wannamaker B. Epilepsy beyond seizure: A populationbased study of comorbidities. *Epilepsy Res.* 2014;108:305–315. doi: 10.1016/j.eplepsyres.2013.12.002

Selassie AW, Wilson DA, Wagner JL, et al. Population-based comparative analysis of risk of death in children and adolescents with epilepsy and migraine. *Epilepsia*. 2015;56(12):1957–1965. doi: 10.1111/epi.13219

Tang DH, Malone DC, Warholak TL, et al. Prevalence and incidence of epilepsy in an elderly and low-income population in the United States. J Clin *Neurol*. 2015;11(3):252–261. doi: 10.3988/jcn.2015.11.3.252

Tian N, Boring M, Kobau R, Zack M, Croft J. Active epilepsy and seizure control in adults – United States, 2013 and 2015. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep.* 2018;67(15):437–442. doi: 10.15585/mmwr.mm6715a1

Tian N, Croft JB, Kobau R, Zack MM, Greenlund KJ. CDC-supported epilepsy surveillance and epidemiologic studies: A review of progress since 1994. *Epilepsy Behav.* 2020;109:107123. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2020.107123

Tian N, Cui W, Zack MM, Kobau R, Fowler KA, Hesdorffer DC. Suicide among people with epilepsy: A population-based analysis of data from the U.S. National Violent Death Reporting System, 17 states, 2003-2011. *Epilepsy Behav.* 2016;61:210–217. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2016.05.028

Tian N, Shaw EC, Zack MM, Kobau R, Dykstra H, Covington TM. Cause-specific mortality among Children and Young Adults with Epilepsy: Results from the U.S. National Child Death Review Case Reporting System. *Epilepsy Behav*. 2015;45:31–34. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2015.02.006

Wagner JL, Wilson DA, Smith G, Malek A, Selassie AW. Neurodevelopmental and mental health comorbidities in children and adolescents with epilepsy and migraine: a response to identified research gaps. *Dev Med Child Neurol*. 2015;57(1):45–52. doi: 10.1111/dmcn.12555

Wannamaker BB, Wilson DA, Malek AM, Selassie AW. Stroke after adult-onset epilepsy: a population-based retrospective cohort study. *Epilepsy Behav.* 2015;43:93–9. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2014.11.028

Wilson DA, Malek AM, Wagner JL, Wannamaker BB, Selassie AW. Mortality in in people with epilepsy: A statewide retrospective cohort study. *Epilepsy Res.* 2016;122:7–14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eplepsyres.2016.01.008

Wilson DA, Selassie AW. Risk of severe and repetitive traumatic brain injury in persons with epilepsy: A population-based case-control study. *Epilepsy Behav.* 2014;32:42–48. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2013.12.035

Wilson DA, Wannamaker BB, Malek AM, Selassie AW. Myocardial infarction after epilepsy onset: A populationbased retrospective cohort study. *Epilepsy Behav.* 2018;88:181–188. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2018.09.009

Zack MM, Kobau R. National and state estimates of the numbers of adults and children with active epilepsy – United States, 2015. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep.* 2017;66:821–825

Zack M, Luncheon C. Adults with an epilepsy history, especially those 45 years or older, those with lower family incomes, and those with a history of hypertension, report a history of stroke five times as often as adults without such a history-2010, 2013, and 2015 U.S. National Health Interview Survey. *Epilepsy Behav.* 2018;83:236–238. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2018.02.028

Zack M, Luncheon C. Adults with an epilepsy history, notably those 45-64 years old or at the lowest income levels, more often report heart disease than adults without an epilepsy history. *Epilepsy Behav.* 2018;86:208–210. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2018.05.021

Tian N, Kobau R, Zack MM, Greenlund KJ. Barriers to and Disparities in Access to Health Care Among Adults Aged ≥18 Years with Epilepsy – United States, 2015 and 2017. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep.* 2022;71:697–702. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm7121a1



IOM RECOMMENDATION 3: PREVENTION EFFORTS

Neurocysticercosis Prevention

Aptagen LLC. Aptamer candidate synthesis and validation for client target in vitro CDC-TSOL. May 2019.

Aptagen LLC. *Finding human carriers of Taeniasis to prevent neurocysticercosis associated epilepsy.* Final Report. Sept. 2021.

Garcia HH, Gonzalez AE, Tsang VCW, et al. Elimination of Taenia solium transmission in Northern Peru. *N Engl J Med.* 2016;374:2335–2344. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1515520

Kephera Diagnostics, LLC. Finding human carriers of Taeniasis to prevent neurocysticercosis associated epilepsy. August 2019.

Lynntech. Development of Taenia solium-specific aptamers for diagnostic assays. Sept. 2019.

Qoolabs, LLC. Developing Species-Specific Human Taeniasis Coproantigen Detection Immunoassays. June 2019.

TBI Prevention

Giza CC, Kutcher JS, Ashwal S, Barth J, Getchius TSD, Gioia GA, et al. Summary of evidence-based guideline update: Evaluation and management of concussion in sports. *Neurology*. 2013;80(24):2250–2257. doi: 10.1212/WNL.0b013e31828d57dd

MEW Network: General

Helmers SL, Kobau R, Sajatovic M, et al. Self-management in epilepsy: Why and how you should incorporate self-management in your practice. *Epilepsy Behav.* 2017;68:220–224. doi:10.1016/j.yebeh.2016.11.015

Jobst BC. Progress in chronic disease: Self-management for patients with epilepsy. *Annals Int Med.* 2019;171:137–138. doi: 10.7326/M19-1483

Kobau R, Manderscheid R, Owens S, LaFrance WC Jr, Sajatovic M. Bridging the divide between epilepsy and mental health to drive solutions. *Epilepsy Behav.* 2019;101(Pt A):106576. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2019.106576

Kobau R, Price P, Hawkins NA. News from the CDC: Translating epilepsy self-management research to practice. *Transl Behav Med*. 2012;2(2):124–125. doi: 10.1007/s13142-012-0122-y

Sajatovic M, Jobst BC, Shegog R, et al. The Managing Epilepsy Well Network: Advancing epilepsy selfmanagement. *Am J Prev Med.* 2017;52(3S3):S241–S245. doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2016.07.026

Shegog R, Bamps YA, Patel A, et al. Managing Epilepsy Well: Emerging e-Tools for epilepsy self-management. *Epilepsy Behav*. 2013;29(1):133–140. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2013.07.002

Wagner JL, Modi AC, Johnson EK, et al. Self-management interventions in pediatric epilepsy: What is the level of evidence? *Epilepsia*. 2017;58(5):743–754. doi: 10.1111/epi.13711

HOBSCOTCH

Streltzov NA, Schmidt SS, Schommer LM, et al. Effectiveness of a self-management program to improve cognition and quality of life in epilepsy: a pragmatic, randomized, multicenter trial. *Neurology*. 2022;98(21)e2174–e2184. doi: 10.1212/WNL.000000000200346

Moncrief CG, Aita SL, Tyson BT, et al. Self-rated executive dysfunction in adults with epilepsy and effects of a cognitive-behavioral intervention (HOBSCOTCH). *Epilepsy Behav.* 2021;121(PtA):108042. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2021.108042

Caller TA, Ferguson R, Roth R, Secore K, et al. Self-management (HOBSCOTCH) improves cognition and quality of life in epilepsy: A randomized controlled trial. *Neurology*. 2016;86(16 Supp) S22.005



Caller TA, Ferguson RJ, Roth RM, et al. A cognitive behavioral intervention (HOBSCOTCH) improves quality of life and attention in epilepsy. *Epilepsy Behav.* 2016;57(Pt A):111–117. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2016.01.024

Caller TA, Secore KL, Ferguson RJ, et al. Design and feasibility of a memory intervention with focus on selfmanagement for cognitive impairment in epilepsy. *Epilepsy Behav.* 2015;44: 192–194. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2014.12.036

MINDSET

Shegog R, Begley CE, Harding A, Dubinsky S, Goldsmith C, Hope O, et al. Description and feasibility of MINDSET: A clinic decision aid for epilepsy self-management. *Epilepsy Behav.* 2013;29;527–536. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2013.09.023.

Begley CE, Shegog R, Harding A, et al. Longitudinal feasibility of MINDSET: A clinic decision aid for epilepsy selfmanagement. *Epilepsy Behav*. 2015;44:143–150. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2014.12.031

Shegog R, Begley CE. Clinic-Based Mobile Health Decision Support to Enhance Adult Epilepsy Self-Management: An Intervention Mapping Approach. *Front Public Health*. 2017;5:256. doi:10.3389/fpubh.2017.00256

Begley C, Chong J, Shegog R, et al. MINDSET: Clinical feasibility of utilizing the revised epilepsy selfmanagement tool for Spanish speaking patients. *Epilepsy Behav.* 2018;88:218–226. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2018.09.021

Shegog R, Begley C, Chong J, et al. MINDSET: Clinic-based decision support demonstrates longitudinal efficacy for increased epilepsy self-management adherence among Spanish speaking patients. *Epilepsy Behav*. 2020;113:107552. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2020.107552

PACES

Fraser RT, Johnson EK, Lashley S, et al. PACES in Epilepsy: Results of a self-management randomized controlled trial. *Epilepsia*. 2015;56(8):1264–1274. doi: 10.1111/epi.13052

Johnson EK, Fraser RT, Lashley S, et al. Program of Active Consumer Engagement in Self-Management in Epilepsy: Replication and extension of a self-management randomized controlled trial. *Epilepsia*. 2020;61(6):1129–1141. doi: 10.1111/epi.16530

PAUSE

Pandey DK, Dasgupta R, Levy J, et al. Enhancing epilepsy self-management and quality of life for adults with epilepsy with varying social and educational backgrounds using PAUSE to Learn Your Epilepsy. *Epilepsy Behav.* 2020;111:107228. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2020.107228

Pandey DK, Levy J, Serafini A, et al. Self-management skills and behaviors, self-efficacy, and quality of life in people with epilepsy from underserved populations. *Epilepsy Behav.* 2019;98(Pt A):258–265. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2019.07.042

SMART

Blixen C, Ghearing G, Wade O, Colon-Zimmerman K, Tyrrell M, Sajatovic M. Engaging stakeholders in the refinement of an evidence-based remotely delivered epilepsy self-management program for rural populations. *Epilepsy Behav.* 2021;118:107942. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2021.107942

Briggs FBS, Wilson BK, Pyatka N, Colon-Zimmermann K, Sajatovic M, Effects of a remotely delivered groupformat epilepsy self-management program on adverse health outcomes in vulnerable people with epilepsy: A causal mediation analysis. *Epilepsy Research*. 2020;162:106303. doi: 10.1016/j.eplepsyres.2020.106303

Kottapalli I, Needham K, Colon-Zimmermann K, et al. A Community-Targeted Implementation of Selfmanagement for People with Epilepsy and a History of Negative Health Events (SMART): A research and



community partnership to reduce epilepsy burden. *Epilepsy Behav* 2022;126:108440. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2021.108440

Sajatovic M, Colon-Zimmermann K, Kahriman M, et al. A 6-month prospective randomized controlled trial of remotely delivered group format epilepsy self-management versus waitlist control for high-risk people with epilepsy. *Epilepsia*. 2018;59(9):1684–1695. doi: 10.1111/epi.14527

Sajatovic M, Colon-Zimmermann K, Kahriman M, et al. One-year follow-up of a remotely delivered epilepsy selfmanagement program in high-risk people with epilepsy. *Epilepsy Behav.* 2019;96:237–243. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2019.04.034

Sudhakar S, Aebi M, Burant C, et al. Health literacy and education level correlates of participation and outcome in a remotely delivered epilepsy self-management program. *Epilepsy Behav.* 2020;107:107026. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2020.107026

TIME

Kumar N, Aebi M, Lu E, Burant C, Sajatovic M. Ethnicity and health outcomes among people with epilepsy participating in an epilepsy self-management RCT. *Epilepsy Behav*. 2019;101(Pt A):106469. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2019.106469

Sajatovic M, Needham K, Colon-Zimmermann K, et al. The community-targeted self-management of epilepsy and mental illness (C-TIME) initiative: A research community, and healthcare administration partnership to reduce epilepsy burden. *Epilepsy Behav.* 2018;89:175–180. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2018.10.004

Sajatovic M, Tatsuoka C, Welter E, et al. Targeted self-management of epilepsy and mental illness for individuals with epilepsy and psychiatric comorbidity. *Epilepsy Behav.* 2016;64(Pt A):152–159. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2016.08.012

UPLIFT

Quarells RC, Spruil TM, Escoffery C et al. Depression self-management in people with epilepsy: Adapting project UPLIFT for underserved populations. *Epilepsy Behav.* 2019;99:106422. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2019.07.023

Spruill TM, Friedman D, Diaz L, et al. Telephone-based depression self-management in Hispanic adults with epilepsy: a pilot randomized controlled trial. *Transl Behav Med.* 2021;11(7):1451–1460. doi: 10.1093/tbm/ibab045

Thompson, NJ, McGee RE, Garcia-Williams A, et al. The impact of a depression intervention on seizure activity. *Epilepsy Behav*. 2020;103(Pt A):106504. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2019.106504

Thompson, NJ, Patel A, Selwa LM, et al. Expanding the efficacy of Project UPLIFT for prevention: Distance delivery of mindfulness-based depression prevention. *J Consult Clin Psych.* 2015;83(2):304–313. doi: 10.1037/a0038404

STIGMA

Herrmann LK, Welter E, Berg AT, Perzynski AT, VanDoren JR, Sajatovic M. Epilepsy misconceptions and stigma reduction: Current status in Western countries. *Epilepsy Behav.* 2016;60(7):165–173. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2016.04.003

Sajatovic M, Herrmann LK, Van Doren JR, et al. A randomized prospective pilot trial of web-delivered epilepsy stigma reduction communications in young adults. *Epilepsia*. 2017;58(11):1946–1954. doi: 10.1111/epi.13911

MEW Network Database Studies (select)

Begley C, Shegog R, Liu H, et al. Correlates of epilepsy self-management in MEW Network participants. *Epilepsy Behav.* 2018;85:243–247. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2018.04.011



Chen E, Sajatovic M, Liu H, et al. Demographic and clinical correlates of seizure frequency: Findings from the Managing Epilepsy Well Network Database. *J Clin Neurol.* 2018;14(2):206–211. doi: 10.3988/jcn.2018.14.2.206

Friedman D, Spruill TM, Liu H, et al. Depressive symptoms and suicidality among individuals with epilepsy enrolled in self-management studies: Results from the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention Managing Epilepsy Well (MEW)Network. *Epilepsy Behav.* 2018;87:235–240. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2018.06.024

Khalid Z, Momotaz H, Briggs F, et al. Depressive symptoms in older versus younger people with epilepsy: Findings from an Integrated Epilepsy Self-Management Clinical Research Dataset. *J Multidisc Healthcare*. 2019;12:981–988. doi: https://doi.org/10.2147/JMDH.S227184

McGee RE, Sajatovic M, Quarells RC, et al. Depression and quality of life among African Americans with epilepsy: Findings from the Managing Epilepsy Well (MEW) Network integrated database. *Epilepsy Behav.* 2019;94:301–306. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2019.02.026

O'Kula SS, Briggs FBS, Brownrigg B, et al. Depression and suicidality among Hispanics with epilepsy: Findings from the Managing Epilepsy Well (MEW) Network integrated database. *Epilepsy Behav.* 2021;125:108388. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2021.108388

Perzynski AT, Ramsey RK, Colón-Zimmermann K, Cage J, Welter E, Sajatovic M. Barriers and facilitators to epilepsy self-management for patients with physical and psychological co-morbidity. *Chronic IIIn.* 2017;13(3):188–203. doi: 10.1177/1742395316674540

Sajatovic M, Wilson B, Shegog R, et al. The Managing Epilepsy Well (MEW) Network Database: Lessons learned in refining and implementing an integrated data tool in service of a national U.S. research collaborative. *Epilepsy Behav*. 2021;115:107650. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2020.107650

Epilepsy Foundation Cooperative Agreement (2016–2021) Depression Screening Pilot

Kraemer K, Martin K, Rosales S, Kiriakopoulos. Pilot implementation study: *Depression screening for patients with epilepsy in a community setting using the patient health questionnaire-2 (PHQ-2)*. American Epilepsy Society 2021 Annual Meeting Presentation.

Martin K, Rosales S, Gonzalez D, et al. Building a competent workforce to meet the needs of people with epilepsy and comorbid mood and cognitive disorders in Texas. Presented at: 2021 American Public Health Association Annual Meeting. October, 2021.

IOM RECOMMENDATION 4: EARLY IDENTIFICATION

Bensken WP, Fernandez-Baca Vaca G, Jobst BC, et al. Burden of chronic and acute conditions and symptoms in people with epilepsy. *Neurology*. 2021;97(24):e2368–e2380. doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000012975

Cui W, Kobau R, Zack MM, Helmers S, Yeargin-Allsopp M. Seizures in children and adolescents aged 6–17 years – United States, 2010–2014. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep.* 2015;64(43):1209–1214.

Cui W, Zack MM, Kobau R, Helmers S. Health behaviors among people with epilepsy-Results from the 2010 National Health Interview Survey. *Epilepsy Behav.* 2015;(44):121–126. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2015.01.011.

Escoffery C, Haardoerfer R, Bamps Y, et al. Reduction of the adult epilepsy self-management measure instrument (AESMMI). *Epilepsy Behav.* 2022;131(Pt A):108692. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2022.108692

Kadima NT, Kobau R, Zack MM, Helmers S. Comorbidity in adults with epilepsy – United States, 2010. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep.* 2013;62(43):849–853.

Kumar N, Colon-Zimmermann K, Fuentes-Casiano E, et al. Clinical correlates of negative health events in a research sample with epilepsy. *Epilepsy Behav.* 2018;79:225–229. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2017.11.037

Luo R, Andrews AS, Mazanec MT, Quon RJ, Schmidt S. Demographics and 5-year survival rates of patients with incident epilepsy in the Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health System. Presentation at: American Epilepsy Society. 2021.



Martin KA, et al. Pilot Implementation Study: *Depression Screening for Patients with Epilepsy in a Community Setting Using the Patient Health questionnaire-2 (PHQ-2). Presentation at: American Epilepsy Society. 2021.*

Pessoa A, van der Linden V, Yeargin-Allsopp M, et al. Motor abnormalities and epilepsy in infants and children with evidence of congenital Zika virus infection. *Pediatrics*. 2018;141(s2):S167-S179. doi: 10.1542/peds.2017-2038F

Rice ME, Galang RR, Roth NM, et al. Vital Signs: Zika-associated birth defects and neurodevelopmental abnormalities possibly associated with congenital Zika virus infection – U.S. territories and freely associated states, 2018. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep.* 2018;67:858–867. doi:10.15585/mmwr.mm6731e1

Selassie AW, Wilson DA, Martz GU, Smith G, Wagner JL, Wannamaker B. Epilepsy beyond seizure: A populationbased study of comorbidities. *Epilepsy Res.* 2014;108:305–315. doi: 10.1016/j.eplepsyres.2013.12.002

Tian N, Matthew Zack M, Wheaton AG, Greenlund KJ, Croft JB. Epilepsy and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease among U.S. adults: National Health Interview Survey 2013, 2015, and 2017. *Epilepsy Behav.* 2020;110:107175. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2020.107175

Tian N, Wheaton AG, Zack M, Croft JB, Greenlund KJ. Sleep duration and quality among U.S. adults with epilepsy: National Health Interview Survey 2013, 2015, and 2017. *Epilepsy Behav.* 2021;122:108194. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2021.108194

Wagner JL, Wilson DA, Smith G, Malek A, Selassie AW. Neurodevelopmental and mental health comorbidities in children and adolescents with epilepsy and migraine: a response to identified research gaps. *Dev Med Child Neurol.* 2015;57(1):45–52. doi: 10.1111/Dmcn.12555

Wannamaker BB, Wilson DA, Malek AM, Selassie AW. Stroke after adult-onset epilepsy: a population-based retrospective cohort study. *Epilepsy Behav.* 2015;43:93–99. doi: 10.1016/J.Yebeh.2014.11.028

Zack M, Luncheon C. Adults with an epilepsy history, especially those 45 years or older, those with lower family incomes, and those with a history of hypertension, report a history of stroke five times as often as adults without such a history-2010, 2013, and 2015 U.S. National Health Interview Survey. *Epilepsy Behav.* 2018;83:236–238. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2018.02.028

Zack M, Luncheon C. Adults with an epilepsy history, notably those 45–64 years old or at the lowest income levels, more often report heart disease than adults without an epilepsy history. *Epilepsy Behav.* 2018;86:208–210. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2018.05.021

IOM RECOMMENDATION 5: NATIONAL QUALITY MEASUREMENT

Bensken WP, Navale SM, Andrew AS, Jobst BC, Sajatovic M. Delays and disparities in diagnosis for adults with epilepsy: Findings from U.S. Medicaid data. *Epilepsy Res.* 2021;166:106406. doi: 10.1016/j.eplepsyres.2020.106406

Bensken WP, Navale, SM, Andrew AS, Jobst BC, Sajatovic M. Markers of quality care for newly diagnosed people with epilepsy on Medicaid. *Medical Care*. 2021:59(7):588–596. doi: 10.1097/MLR.00000000001541

National Center for Health Statistics. Healthy People 2020 Midcourse Review. Hyattsville, MD; 2016. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/healthy_people/hp2020/hp2020_midcourse_review.htm</u>.

Sinclair LB, Fox MH, Jonas BS, Berry HG, Quatrano LA, McGowan AK, et al. Considering disability and health: Reflections on the Healthy People 2020 Midcourse Review. *Disabil Health J.* 2018;11(3):333–338. doi: 10.1016/j.dhjo.2018.04.001

IOM RECOMMENDATION 6: ACCREDITATION OF EPILEPSY CENTERS

Not applicable to CDC.



IOM RECOMMENDATION 7: HEALTH PROFESSIONAL EDUCATION

McDonald SB, Privitera M, Kakacek J, et al. Developing epilepsy training capacity for primary care providers using the project ECHO telementoring model. *Epilepsy Behav.* 2021;116:107789. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2021.107789

McPhillips AM, Schultz RJ, Nasuta M, Shafer PO. ECHO Telementoring applied to managing students with seizures: the benefits for school nurses. *NASN School Nurse*. 2021;36(2):104–109. doi: 10.1177/1942602X20963720

IOM RECOMMENDATION 8: DELIVERY AND COORDINATION OF SERVICES

See Recommendation 3.

IOM RECOMMENDATION 9: EDUCATIONAL OPPORTUNITIES FOR PATIENT AND FAMILIES

Epilepsy Foundation. How to use rescue therapies. May 5, 2020. <u>https://www.youtube.com/watch?</u> <u>v=sHu6yM3I6vk.</u> Accessed June 30, 2022.

Epilepsy Foundation. Overview of epilepsy and seizure first aid. YouTube. May 5, 2020. <u>https://www.youtube.</u> <u>com/watch?v=z6K8XQQf9ss</u>. Accessed June 30, 2022.

Epilepsy Foundation. Rescue therapies for epilepsy. July 10, 2020. <u>https://www.youtube.com/watch?</u> <u>v=zDamXlqZZG8</u>. Accessed June 30, 2022.

Epilepsy Foundation. What are rescue therapies? *YouTube*. May 5, 2020. <u>https://www.youtube.com/watch?</u> <u>v=uEvB9xghip0</u>. Accessed June 30, 2022.

Sirven J. HobScotch CDC grant. Epilepsy.com Hallway Conversations. August 13, 2013. <u>https://podcastaddict</u>.com/episode/https%3A%2F%2Fwww.blogtalkradio.com%2Fepilepsy%2F2013%2F08%2F14%2Fhobscotchcdc-grant.mp3&podcastId=1595311. Accessed June 30, 2022.

Sirven J, Managing Epilepsy Well TIME intervention. Epilepsy.com Hallway Conversations. September 26, 2013. https://podcastaddict.com/episode/https%3A%2F%2Fwww.blogtalkradio.com%2Fepilepsy% 2F2013%2F09%2F26%2Fmanaging-epilepsy-well-time-intervention.mp3&podcastId=1595311. Accessed June 30, 2022.

Sirven J. MINDSET study. Epilepsy.com Hallway Conversations. May 29, 2013. <u>https://podcastaddict.com</u>/<u>episode/https%3A%2F%2Fwww.blogtalkradio.com%2Fepilepsy%2F2013%2F05%2F29%2Fmindset-study.mp3&podcastId=1595311</u>. Accessed June 30, 2022.

Sirven J. PEARLS. Epilepsy.com Hallway Conversations. March 20, 2014. <u>https://podcastaddict.com/episode/https%3A%2F%2Fwww.blogtalkradio.com%2Fepilepsy%2F2014%2F03%2F20%2Fpearls-community-based-depression-treatment-program-for-adults.mp3&podcastId=1595311. Accessed June 30, 2022.</u>

Sirven J. PACES Trial for epilepsy. Epilepsy.com Hallway Conversations. July 10, 2013. <u>https://podcastaddict</u>.com/episode/https%3A%2F%2Fwww.blogtalkradio.com%2Fepilepsy%2F2013%2F07%2F10%2Fpaces-trialfor-epilepsy.mp3&podcastId=1595311. Accessed June 30, 2022

Epilepsy Foundation. What's a seizure action plan? YouTube. May 5, 2020. <u>https://www.youtube.com/watch?</u> <u>v=YwsxuyidJzc.</u> Accessed June 30, 2022.

Sirven J, Helmers SL. WebEase. Epilepsy.com Hallway Conversations. July 14, 2014. <u>https://podcastaddict</u>..com/episode/https%3A%2F%2Fwww.blogtalkradio.com%2Fepilepsy%2F2014%2F07%2F15%2Fwebease.mp 3&podcastId=1595311. Accessed June 30, 2022.



IOM RECOMMENDATION 10: INFORMATION FOR MEDIA

Azevedo M. Suicide rate higher among epilepsy patients than general population, CDC says. *Epilepsy News Today*. July 16, 2016. <u>https://epilepsynewstoday.com/2016/07/13/suicide-rate-22-higher-people-epilepsy-general-population/.</u> Accessed June 30, 2022

Carter R, Satcher D, Coelho T. Addressing stigma through social inclusion. *Am J Public Health.* 2013;103(5):773. doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2012.30116

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). National Epilepsy Awareness month—November 2012. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep.* 2012;61(45):909.

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). National Epilepsy Awareness month—November 2013. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep.* 2013;62(43):849.

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). National Epilepsy Awareness month—November 2014. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep.* 2014;63(44):989.

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). National Epilepsy Awareness month—November 2015. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep.* 2015;64(43):1209.

Suicide rate among people with epilepsy is 22 percent greater than the general population. *Epilepsy Society*. July 14, 2016. <u>https://epilepsysociety.org.uk/news/suicide-rate-among-people-epilepsy-22-cent-greater-general-population</u>. Accessed June 30, 2022.

IOM RECOMMENDATION 11: PUBLIC AWARENESS EFFORTS

Dare to understand more about seizures because someone you know lives with epilepsy. Epilepsy Foundation. October 28, 2014. <u>https://www.epilepsy.com/stories/epilepsy-foundation-dare-understand-more-about-seizures-because-someone-you-know-lives.</u> Accessed June 30, 2022.

Epilepsy Features. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). Updated June 15, 2022. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/epilepsy/communications/features/index.htm</u>. Accessed June 30, 2022.

Epilepsy Foundation launches Asian American outreach campaign. *Asian Fortune*. July 10, 2013. <u>http://www.asianfortunenews.com/2013/07/epilepsy-foundation-launches-asian-american-outreach-campaign/</u>. Accessed June 30, 2022.

Epilepsy – Related podcasts. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). Updated February 27, 2019. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/epilepsy/communications/podcasts.htm</u>. Accessed June 30, 2022.

Hughes A. Understanding Epilepsy. *Native American Calling*. November 16, 2020. <u>https://www.nativeamerica calling.com/monday-november-16-2020-understanding-epilepsy/</u>. Accessed June 30, 2022.

Infographics. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). Updated February 20, 2019. <u>https://www.cdc</u>.<u>.gov/epilepsy/communications/infographics/index.htm</u>. Accessed June 30, 2022.

IOM RECOMMENDATION 12: VISION 20-20 AND ELC PARTNERSHIPS

Expanding the use of epilepsy self-management programs: Programs and resources from the CDC Managing Epilepsy Well Network. Workshop presented at: National Association of Epilepsy Centers annual business meeting, American Epilepsy Society. December 9, 2013.

Kobau R. A focus on epilepsy disparities. Presented at: Workshop for AES Epidemiology Special Interest Group. 2020.

Koh H, Alongi J, Selassie A, Begley C, Kobau R. Putting the 'public' back in health: Resources and opportunities available to (help) people with epilepsy. Presented at: Workshop. 2016.

Mann M, Mazloomdoost Y, Douglass L, et al. Strategies to facilitate the transition of youth with epilepsy into adult health care. Presented at: Workshop. 2018.



McDonald S, Kiriakopolous E, Shegog R, Kobau R. Closing gaps in epilepsy care with provider capacity building models: Project ECHO in Ohio and Community-Health Worker training and integration in New England and Texas. Presented at: AES Workshop. 2021.

Pastula D, Clarke D, Berliner E, Whittemore V, Kobau R. Coordinated joint CDC/NINDS Webinar, Introduction to Health Services Research in the Epilepsies. Presented at: Workshop. June 9, 2021.

IOM RECOMMENDATION 13: ENGAGE PEOPLE WITH EPILEPSY

See Recommendations 8, 9, 10.